
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LEARNING RESOURCES 

HISTORY OF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPARED  

BY  

PG & RESEARCH DEPARTMENT OF HISTORY 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 

World War I 

 

World War I (28 July 1914 – 11 November 1918), often abbreviated as WWI, 

was a global conflict fought between two coalitions, the Allied Powers and the Central 

Powers. Fighting took place throughout Europe, the Middle East, Africa, the Pacific, and 

parts of Asia. 

The first decade of the 20th century saw increasing diplomatic tension between the 

European great powers. This reached a breaking point on 28 June 1914, when a Bosnian 

Serb named Gavrilo Princip assassinated Archduke Franz Ferdinand, heir to the Austro-

Hungarian throne. Austria-Hungary held Serbia responsible, and declared war on 28 

July. Russia came to Serbia's defence, and by August, Germany, France and Britain were 

drawn into the war, with the Ottoman Empire joining in November the same year. 

German strategy in 1914 was to first defeat France, then transfer forces to the Russian 

front. However, this failed, and by the end of 1914, the Western Front consisted of a 

continuous line of trenches stretching from the English Channel to Switzerland. 

The Eastern Front was more dynamic, but neither side could gain a decisive advantage, 

despite costly offensives. As the war expanded to 

morefronts, Bulgaria, Romania, Greece, Italy and others joined in from 1915 onward. In 

early 1917, the United States entered the war on the side of the Allies, and later the same 

year, the Bolsheviks seized power in the Russian October Revolution, making peace with 

the Central Powers in early 1918. Germany launched an offensive in the west in March 

1918, but despite initial success, it left the German Army exhausted and demoralised. A 

successful Allied counter-offensive later that year caused a collapse of the German 

frontline. By the end of 1918, Bulgaria, the Ottoman Empire and Austria-Hungary agreed 

to armistices with the Allies, leaving Germany isolated. Facing revolution at home and 

with his army on the verge of mutiny, Kaiser Wilhelm II abdicated on 9 November. 

An armistice three days later ended the fighting, and the Paris Peace Conference imposed 

various settlements on the defeated powers, notably the Treaty of Versailles. 

World War I was one of the deadliest wars in history, and resulted in an estimated 9 

million soldiers dead and 23 million wounded, while 5 million civilians died due to 
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military action, hunger and disease. Millions more died as a result of genocide, and the 

devastation of the war heavily contributed to the 1918 Spanish flu pandemic. The 

dissolution of the Russian, German, Austro-Hungarian, and Ottoman Empires resulted in 

the creation of new independent states, including Poland, Finland, Czechoslovakia, 

and Yugoslavia. The inability to manage post-war instability contributed to the outbreak 

of World War II in September 1939. 

The term world war was first coined in September 1914 by German biologist and 

philosopher Ernst Haeckel. He claimed that "there is no doubt that the course and 

character of the feared 'European War' ... will become the first world war in the full sense 

of the word," in The Indianapolis Star on 20 September 1914. 

The term First World War had been used by Lt-Col. Charles à Court Repington, as a 

title for his memoirs (published in 1920); he had noted his discussion on the matter with a 

Major Johnstone of Harvard University in his diary entry of 10 September 1918.  

Prior to World War II, the events of 1914–1918 were generally known as the Great 

War or simply the World War. In August 1914, the magazine The Independent wrote 

"This is the Great War. It names itself". In October 1914, the Canadian 

magazine Maclean's similarly wrote, "Some wars name themselves. This is the Great 

War." Contemporary Europeans also referred to it as "the war to end war" and it was also 

described as "the war to end all wars" due to their perception of its unparalleled scale, 

devastation, and loss of life.  

 

Political and military alliances 

For much of the 19th century, the major European powers maintained a 

tenuous balance of power among themselves, known as the Concert of Europe. After 

1848, this was challenged by a variety of factors, including Britain's withdrawal into so-

called splendid isolation, the decline of the Ottoman Empire, New Imperialism, and the 

rise of Prussia under Otto von Bismarck. The 1866 Austro-Prussian War established 

Prussian hegemony in Germany, while victory in the 1870–1871 Franco-Prussian 

War allowed Bismarck to consolidate the German states into a German Empire under 

Prussian leadership. Avenging the defeat of 1871, or revanchism, and recovering the 
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provinces of Alsace-Lorraine became the principal objects of French policy for the next 

forty years.  

Rival military coalitions in 1914 

 Triple Entente 

Triple Alliance 

In order to isolate France and avoid a war on two fronts, Bismarck negotiated the League 

of the Three Emperors (German: Dreikaiserbund) between Austria-Hungary, Russia and 

Germany. After Russian victory in the 1877–1878 Russo-Turkish War, the League was 

dissolved due to Austrian concerns over Russian influence in the Balkans, an area they 

considered of vital strategic interest. Germany and Austria-Hungary then formed the 

1879 Dual Alliance, which became the Triple Alliance when Italy joined in 1882. For 

Bismarck, the purpose of these agreements was to isolate France by ensuring the three 

Empires resolved any disputes between themselves; when this was threatened in 1880 by 

British and French attempts to negotiate directly with Russia, he reformed the League in 

1881, which was renewed in 1883 and 1885. After the agreement lapsed in 1887, he 

replaced it with the Reinsurance Treaty, a secret agreement between Germany and Russia 

to remain neutral if either were attacked by France or Austria-Hungary.  

Bismarck viewed peace with Russia as the foundation of German foreign policy but after 

becoming Kaiser in 1890, Wilhelm II forced him to retire and was persuaded not to 

renew the Reinsurance Treaty by his new Chancellor, Leo von Caprivi. This provided 

France an opportunity to counteract the Triple Alliance by signing the Franco-Russian 

Alliance in 1894, followed by the 1904 Entente Cordiale with Britain. The Triple 

Entente was completed by the 1907 Anglo-Russian Convention. While these were not 

formal alliances, by settling long-standing colonial disputes in Africa and Asia, the notion 

of British entry into any future conflict involving France or Russia became a 

possibility. British and Russian support for France against Germany during the Agadir 

Crisis in 1911 reinforced their relationship and increased Anglo-German estrangement, 

deepening the divisions that would erupt in 1914.  
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Arms race 

 

German industrial strength and production significantly increased after 1871, 

driven by the creation of a unified Reich, French indemnity payments, and the annexation 

of Alsace-Lorraine. Backed by Wilhelm II, Admiral Alfred von Tirpitz sought to use this 

growth in economic power to build a Kaiserliche Marine, or Imperial German Navy, 

which could compete with the British Royal Navy for world naval supremacy. His 

thinking was influenced by US naval strategist Alfred Thayer Mahan, who argued 

possession of a blue-water navy was vital for global power projection; Tirpitz had his 

books translated into German, while Wilhelm made them required reading for his 

advisors and senior military personnel.  

However, it was also an emotional decision, driven by Wilhelm's simultaneous 

admiration for the Royal Navy and desire to outdo and surpass it. Bismarck thought that 

the British would not interfere in Europe, so long as its maritime supremacy remained 

secure, but his dismissal in 1890 led to a change in policy and an Anglo-German naval 

arms race began. Despite the vast sums spent by Tirpitz, the launch 

of HMS Dreadnought in 1906 gave the British a technological advantage over their 

German rivals which they never lost. Ultimately, the race diverted huge resources into 

creating a German navy large enough to antagonise Britain, but not defeat it; in  

 

Conflicts in the Balkans 

Sarajevo citizens reading a poster with the proclamation of the Austrian 

annexation in 1908.The years before 1914 were marked by a series of crises in the 

Balkans as other powers sought to benefit from Ottoman decline. While Pan-

Slavic and Orthodox Russia considered itself the protector of Serbia and other Slav states, 

they preferred the strategically vital Bosporus straits to be controlled by a weak Ottoman 

government, rather than an ambitious Slav power like Bulgaria. Since Russia had its own 

ambitions in northeastern Anatolia and their clients had over-lapping claims in the 

Balkans, balancing these divided Russian policy-makers and added to regional instability. 

Austrian statesmen viewed the Balkans as essential for the continued existence of their 

Empire, and saw Serbian expansion as a direct threat. The 1908–1909 Bosnian 
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Crisis began when Austria annexed the former Ottoman territory of Bosnia and 

Herzegovina, which it had occupied since 1878. Timed to coincide with the Bulgarian 

Declaration of Independence from the Ottoman Empire, this unilateral action was 

denounced by the European powers, but accepted as there was no consensus on how to 

resolve the situation. Some historians see this as a significant escalation, ending any 

chance of Austria co-operating with Russia in the Balkans while also damaging 

diplomatic relations between Serbia and Italy, both of whom had their own expansionist 

ambitions in the region.  

Prelude 

Sarajevo assassination 

Traditionally thought to show the arrest of Gavrilo Princip (right), this photo is now 

believed by historians to depict an innocent bystander, Ferdinand   

On 28 June 1914, Archduke Franz Ferdinand of Austria, heir presumptive to 

Emperor Franz Joseph, visited Sarajevo, capital of the recently annexed provinces 

of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Six assassins[l] from the movement known as Young Bosnia, 

or Mlada Bosna, took up positions along the route taken by the Archduke's motorcade, 

with the intention of assassinating him. Supplied with arms by extremists within the 

Serbian Black Hand intelligence organisation, they hoped his death would free Bosnia 

from Austrian rule, although there was little agreement on what would replace it.  

Nedeljko Čabrinović threw a grenade at the Archduke's car and injured two of his aides, 

who were taken to hospital while the convoy carried on. The other assassins were also 

unsuccessful but an hour later, as Ferdinand was returning from visiting the injured 

officers, his car took a wrong turn into a street where Gavrilo Princip was standing. He 

stepped forward and fired two pistol shots, fatally wounding Ferdinand and his 

wife Sophie, who both died shortly thereafter.[34] Although Emperor Franz Joseph was 

shocked by the incident, political and personal differences meant the two men were not 

close; allegedly, his first reported comment was "A higher power has re-established the 

order which I, alas, could not preserve". 

According to historian Zbynek Zeman, his reaction was reflected more broadly 

in Vienna, where "the event almost failed to make any impression whatsoever. On 28 and 

29 June, the crowds listened to music and drank wine, as if nothing had 
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happened.Nevertheless, the impact of the murder of the heir to the throne was significant, 

and has been described by historian Christopher Clark as a "9/11 effect, a terrorist event 

charged with historic meaning, transforming the political chemistry in Vienna". 

 

July Crisis 

The assassination initiated the July Crisis, a month of diplomatic manoeuvring 

between Austria-Hungary, Germany, Russia, France and Britain. Believing Serbian 

intelligence helped organise Franz Ferdinand's murder, Austrian officials wanted to use 

the opportunity to end their interference in Bosnia and saw war as the best way of 

achieving this. However, the Foreign Ministry had no solid proof of Serbian involvement 

and a dossier used to make its case was riddled with errors. On 23 July, Austria delivered 

an ultimatum to Serbia, listing ten demands made intentionally unacceptable to provide 

an excuse for starting hostilities.  Ethno-linguistic map of Austria-Hungary, 

1910. Bosnia-Herzegovina was annexed in 1908. Serbia ordered general mobilisation on 

25 July, but accepted all the terms, except for those empowering Austrian representatives 

to suppress "subversive elements" inside Serbia, and take part in the investigation and 

trial of Serbians linked to the assassination. Claiming this amounted to rejection, Austria 

broke off diplomatic relations and ordered partial mobilisation the next day; on 28 July, 

they declared war on Serbia and began shelling Belgrade. Having initiated war 

preparations on 25 July, Russia now ordered general mobilisation in support of Serbia on 

30 th. Anxious to ensure backing from the SPD political opposition by presenting Russia 

as the aggressor, German Chancellor Bethmann Hollweg delayed commencement of war 

preparations until 31 July. That afternoon the Russian government were handed a note 

requiring them to "cease all war measures against Germany and Austria-Hungary" within 

12 hours. A further German demand for neutrality was refused by the French who 

ordered general mobilisation but delayed declaring war. The German General Staff had 

long assumed they faced a war on two fronts; the Schlieffen Plan envisaged using 80% of 

the army to defeat France in the west, then switch to Russia. Since this required them to 

move quickly, mobilisation orders were issued that afternoon.  

Cheering crowds in London and Paris on the day war was declared. 
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Progress of the war - Opening hostilities 

Confusion among the Central Powers 

The strategy of the Central Powers suffered from miscommunication. Germany had 

promised to support Austria-Hungary's invasion of Serbia, but interpretations of what this 

meant differed. Previously tested deployment plans had been replaced early in 1914, but 

those had never been tested in exercises. Austro-Hungarian leaders believed Germany 

would cover its northern flank against Russia. Germany, however, envisioned Austria-

Hungary directing most of its troops against Russia, while Germany dealt with France. 

This confusion forced the Austro-Hungarian Army to divide its forces between the 

Russian and Serbian fronts.  

 

Serbian campaign 

Beginning on 12 August, the Austrian and Serbs clashed at the battles of 

the Cer and Kolubara; over the next two weeks, Austrian attacks were repulsed with 

heavy losses, dashing their hopes of a swift victory and marking the first major Allied 

victories of the war. As a result, Austria had to keep sizeable forces on the Serbian front, 

weakening its efforts against Russia. Serbia's defeat of the 1914 invasion has been called 

one of the major upset victories of the twentieth century. In spring 1915, the campaign 

saw the first use of anti-aircraft warfare after an Austrian plane was shot down 

with ground-to-air fire, as well as the first medical evacuation by the Serbian army in 

autumn 1915.  

 

German offensive in Belgium and France 

 German soldiers on the way to the front in 1914; at this stage, all sides expected 

the conflict to be a short one. 

Upon mobilisation in 1914, 80% of the German Army was located on the Western Front, 

with the remainder acting as a screening force in the East; officially titled Aufmarsch II 

West, it is better known as the Schlieffen Plan after its creator, Alfred von Schlieffen, 

head of the German General Staff from 1891 to 1906. Rather than a direct attack across 

their shared frontier, the German right wing would sweep through 
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the Netherlands and Belgium, then swing south, encircling Paris and trapping the French 

army against the Swiss border. Schlieffen estimated this would take six weeks, after 

which the German army would transfer to the East and defeat the Russians.  

The plan was substantially modified by his successor, Helmuth von Moltke the Younger. 

Under Schlieffen, 85% of German forces in the west were assigned to the right wing, 

with the remainder holding along the frontier. By keeping his left wing deliberately weak, 

he hoped to lure the French into an offensive into the "lost provinces" of Alsace-Lorraine, 

which was in fact the strategy envisaged by their Plan XVII. However, Moltke grew 

concerned the French might push too hard on his left flank and as the German Army 

increased in size from 1908 to 1914, he changed the allocation of forces between the two 

wings from 85:15 to 70:30. He also considered Dutch neutrality essential for German 

trade and cancelled the incursion into the Netherlands, which meant any delays in 

Belgium threatened the entire viability of the plan. Historian Richard Holmes argues 

these changes meant the right wing was not strong enough to achieve decisive success 

and thus led to unrealistic goals and timings.  

 

Asia and the Pacific 

On 30 August 1914, New Zealand occupied German Samoa, now the independent 

state of Samoa. On 11 September, the Australian Naval and Military Expeditionary 

Force landed on the island of New Britain, then part of German New Guinea. On 28 

October, the German cruiser SMS Emden sank the Russian cruiser Zhemchug in 

the Battle of Penang. Japan declared war on Germany prior to seizing territories in the 

Pacific which later became the South Seas Mandate, as well as German Treaty ports on 

the Chinese Shandong peninsula at Tsingtao. After Vienna refused to withdraw its 

cruiser SMS Kaiserin Elisabeth from Tsingtao, Japan declared war on Austria-Hungary 

as well, and the ship was sunk at Tsingtao in November 1914. Within a few months, 

Allied forces had seized all German territories in the Pacific, leaving only isolated 

commerce raiders and a few holdouts in New Guinea.  
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African campaigns 

Some of the first clashes of the war involved British, French, and German 

colonial forces in Africa. On 6–7 August, French and British troops invaded the German 

protectorate of Togoland and Kamerun. On 10 August, German forces in South-West 

Africa attacked South Africa; sporadic and fierce fighting continued for the rest of the 

war. The German colonial forces in German East Africa, led by Colonel Paul von 

Lettow-Vorbeck, fought a guerrilla warfare campaign during World War I and only 

surrendered two weeks after the armistice took effect in Europe.  

 

Indian support for the Allies 

 British Indian Army infantry divisions in France; these troops were withdrawn in 

December 1915, and served in the Mesopotamian campaign. 

Prior to the war, Germany had attempted to use Indian nationalism and pan-Islamism to 

its advantage, a policy continued post-1914 by instigating uprisings in India, while 

the Niedermayer–Hentig Expedition urged Afghanistan to join the war on the side of 

Central Powers. However, contrary to British fears of a revolt in India, the outbreak of 

the war saw a reduction in nationalist activity. This was largely because leaders from 

the Indian National Congress and other groups believed support for the British war effort 

would hasten Indian Home Rule, a promise allegedly made explicit in 1917 by Edwin 

Montagu, then Secretary of State for India. In 1914, the British Indian Army was larger 

than the British Army itself, and between 1914 and 1918 an estimated 1.3 million Indian 

soldiers and labourers served in Europe, Africa, and the Middle East, while 

the Government of India and their princely allies supplied large quantities of food, 

money, and ammunition. In all, 140,000 soldiers served on the Western Front and nearly 

700,000 in the Middle East, with 47,746 killed and 65,126 wounded.  

The suffering engendered by the war, as well as the failure of the British government to 

grant self-government to India after the end of hostilities, bred disillusionment and 

resulted in the campaign for full independence led by Mahatma Gandhi.[86] 
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Western Front 1914 to 1916 

Trench warfare begins 

British Indian soldiers digging trenches in Laventie, France, 1915 

Pre-war military tactics that emphasised open warfare and the individual rifleman proved 

obsolete when confronted with conditions prevailing in 1914. Technological advances 

allowed the creation of strong defensive systems largely impervious to massed infantry 

advances, such as barbed wire, machine guns and above all far more powerful artillery, 

which dominated the battlefield and made crossing open ground extremely difficult. Both 

sides struggled to develop tactics for breaching entrenched positions without suffering 

heavy casualties. In time, however, technology enabled the production of new offensive 

weapons, such as gas warfare and the tank.  

After the First Battle of the Marne in September 1914, Allied and German forces 

unsuccessfully tried to outflank each other, a series of manoeuvres later known as the 

"Race to the Sea". By the end of 1914, the opposing forces confronted each other along 

an uninterrupted line of entrenched positions from the Channel to the Swiss border. Since 

the Germans were normally able to choose where to stand, they generally held the high 

ground, while their trenches tended to be better built; those constructed by the French and 

English were initially considered "temporary", only needed until an offensive would 

smash the German defences. Both sides tried to break the stalemate using scientific and 

technological advances. On 22 April 1915, at the Second Battle of Ypres, the Germans 

(violating the Hague Convention) used chlorine gas for the first time on the Western 

Front. Several types of gas soon became widely used by both sides, and though it never 

proved a decisive, battle-winning weapon, it became one of the most-feared and best-

remembered horrors of the war.  

 

Continuation of trench warfare 

Neither side proved able to deliver a decisive blow for the next two years. 

Throughout 1915–17, the British Empire and France suffered more casualties than 

Germany, because of both the strategic and tactical stances chosen by the sides. 

Strategically, while the Germans mounted only one major offensive, the Allies made 

several attempts to break through the German lines.  

https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Indian_Army_during_World_War_I
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Laventie
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Barbed_wire
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Machine_gun
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Artillery
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chemical_weapons_in_World_War_I
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tanks_in_World_War_I
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/First_Battle_of_the_Marne
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Race_to_the_Sea
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_Channel
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Second_Battle_of_Ypres
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hague_Conventions_of_1899_and_1907
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chlorine


 

In February 1916 the Germans attacked French defensive positions at the Battle of 

Verdun, lasting until December 1916. The Germans made initial gains, before French 

counter-attacks returned matters to near their starting point. Casualties were greater for 

the French, but the Germans bled heavily as well, with anywhere from 700,000 to 

975,000 casualties suffered between the two combatants. Verdun became a symbol of 

French determination and self-sacrifice.  

The Battle of the Somme was an Anglo-French offensive of July to November 1916. 

The opening day on 1 July 1916 was the bloodiest single day in the history of the British 

Army, which suffered 57,470 casualties, including 19,240 dead. As a whole, the Somme 

offensive led to an estimated 420,000 British casualties, along with 200,000 French and 

500,000 German.[96] Gun fire was not the only factor taking lives; the diseases that 

emerged in the trenches were a major killer on both sides. The living conditions made it 

so that countless diseases and infections occurred, such as trench foot, shell shock, 

blindness/burns from mustard gas, lice, trench fever, "cooties" (body lice) and the 

'Spanish flu'.  

Southern theatres 

War in the Balkans 

 Refugee transport from Serbia in Leibnitz, Styria, 1914 Bulgarian soldiers in a 

trench, preparing to fire against an incoming aeroplane Austro-Hungarian troops 

executing captured Serbians, 1917. Serbia lost about 850,000 people during the war, a 

quarter of its pre-war population. Faced with Russia in the east, Austria-Hungary could spare 

only one-third of its army to attack Serbia. After suffering heavy losses, the Austrians briefly 

occupied the Serbian capital, Belgrade. A Serbian counter-attack in the Battle of Kolubara 

succeeded in driving them from the country by the end of 1914. For the first ten months of 1915, 

Austria-Hungary used most of its military reserves to fight Italy. German and Austro-Hungarian 

diplomats, however, scored a coup by persuading Bulgaria to join the attack on Serbia. The 

Austro-Hungarian provinces of Slovenia, Croatia and Bosnia provided troops for Austria-

Hungary in the fight with Serbia, Russia and Italy. Montenegro allied itself with Serbia.  

Bulgaria declared war on Serbia on 14 October 1915 and joined in the attack by 

the Austro-Hungarian army under Mackensen's army of 250,000 that was already 

underway. Serbia was conquered in a little more than a month, as the Central Powers, 
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now including Bulgaria, sent in 600,000 troops total. The Serbian army, fighting on two 

fronts and facing certain defeat, retreated into northern Albania. The Serbs suffered 

defeat in the Battle of Kosovo. Montenegro covered the Serbian retreat towards the 

Adriatic coast in the Battle of Mojkovac in 6–7 January 1916, but ultimately the 

Austrians also conquered Montenegro. The surviving Serbian soldiers were evacuated by 

ship to Greece. After conquest, Serbia was divided between Austro-Hungary and 

Bulgaria. In late 1915, a Franco-British force landed at Salonica in Greece to offer 

assistance and to pressure its government to declare war against the Central Powers. 

However, the pro-German King Constantine I dismissed the pro-Allied government 

of Eleftherios Venizelos before the Allied expeditionary force arrived. The friction 

between the King of Greece and the Allies continued to accumulate with the National 

Schism, which effectively divided Greece between regions still loyal to the king and the 

new provisional government of Venizelos in Salonica. After intense negotiations and an 

armed confrontation in Athens between Allied and royalist forces (an incident known 

as Noemvriana), the King of Greece abdicated and his second son Alexander took his 

place; Greece officially joined the war on the side of the Allies in June 1917.  

 

Ottoman Empire 

      Australian troops charging near a Turkish trench during the Gallipoli Campaign 

Mehmed V greeting Wilhelm II on his arrival at Constantinople The Ottomans threatened 

Russia's Caucasian territories and Britain's communications with India via the Suez Canal. As the 

conflict progressed, the Ottoman Empire took advantage of the European powers' preoccupation 

with the war and conducted large-scale ethnic cleansing of the indigenous Armenian, Greek, 

and Assyrian Christian populations, known as the Armenian genocide, Greek genocide, 

and Sayfo respectively.  

Russian armies generally had success in the Caucasus campaign. Enver Pasha, 

supreme commander of the Ottoman armed forces, was ambitious and dreamed of re-

conquering central Asia and areas that had been lost to Russia previously. He was, 

however, a poor commander. He launched an offensive against the Russians in the 

Caucasus in December 1914 with 100,000 troops, insisting on a frontal attack against 

mountainous Russian positions in winter. He lost 86% of his force at the Battle of 

Sarikamish.  
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Italian Front 

Although Italy joined the Triple Alliance in 1882, a treaty with its traditional 

Austrian enemy was so controversial that subsequent governments denied its existence 

and the terms were only made public in 1915. This arose from nationalist designs on 

Austro-Hungarian territory in Trentino, the Austrian Littoral, Rijeka and Dalmatia, which 

were considered vital to secure the borders established in 1866. In 1902, Rome secretly 

agreed with France to remain neutral if the latter was attacked by Germany, effectively 

nullifying its role in the Triple Alliance.  

          Italian soldiers in trench, 1918 Austro-Hungarian trench at 3,850 metres in 

the Ortler Alps, one of the most challenging fronts of the war. When the war began in 

1914, Italy argued the Triple Alliance was defensive in nature and it was not obliged to 

support an Austrian attack on Serbia. Opposition to joining the Central Powers increased 

when Turkey became a member in September, since in 1911 Italy had occupied Ottoman 

possessions in Libya and the Dodecanese islands. To secure Italian neutrality, the Central 

Powers offered them the French protectorate of Tunisia, while in return for an immediate 

entry into the war, the Allies agreed to their demands for Austrian territory and 

sovereignty over the Dodecanese. Although they remained secret, these provisions were 

incorporated into the April 1915 Treaty of London; Italy joined the Triple Entente and on 

23 May declared war on Austria-Hungary, followed by Germany fifteen months later. 

 

Romanian participation 

Despite secretly agreeing to support the Triple Alliance in 1883, Romania 

increasingly found itself at odds with the Central Powers over their support for Bulgaria 

in the 1912 to 1913 Balkan Wars and the status of ethnic Romanian communities 

in Hungarian-controlled Transylvania, which comprised an estimated 2.8 million of the 

5.0 million population. With the ruling elite split into pro-German and pro-Entente 

factions, Romania remained neutral in 1914, arguing like Italy that because Austria-

Hungary had declared war on Serbia, it was under no obligation to join them. They 

maintained this position for the next two years, while allowing Germany and Austria to 

transport military supplies and advisors across Romanian territory.  
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In September 1914, Russia had acknowledged Romanian rights to Austro-Hungarian 

territories including Transylvania and Banat, whose acquisition had widespread popular 

support,  and Russian success against Austria led Romania to join the Entente in the 

August 1916 Treaty of Bucharest. Under the strategic plan known as Hypothesis Z, the 

Romanian army planned an offensive into Transylvania, while defending 

Southern Dobruja and Giurgiu against a possible Bulgarian counterattack. On 27 August 

1916, they attacked Transylvania and occupied substantial parts of the province before 

being driven back by the recently formed German 9th Army, led by former Chief of Staff 

Falkenhayn. A combined German-Bulgarian-Turkish offensive captured Dobruja and 

Giurgiu, although the bulk of the Romanian army managed to escape encirclement and 

retreated to Bucharest, which surrendered to the Central Powers on 6 December 1916. 

On 7 May 1918 Romania signed the Treaty of Bucharest with the Central Powers, which 

recognised Romanian sovereignty over Bessarabia in return for ceding control of passes 

in the Carpathian Mountains to Austria-Hungary and granting oil concessions to 

Germany. Although approved by Parliament, Ferdinand I refused to sign the treaty, 

hoping for an Allied victory; Romania re-entered the war on 10 November 1918 on the 

side of the Allies and the Treaty of Bucharest was formally annulled by the Armistice of 

11 November 1918. Between 1914 and 1918, an estimated 400,000 to 600,000 ethnic 

Romanians served with the Austro-Hungarian army, of whom up to 150,000 were killed 

in action; total military and civilian deaths within contemporary Romanian borders are 

estimated at 748,000.  

 

Eastern Front 

Initial actions 

 

As previously agreed with France, Russian plans at the start of the war were to 

simultaneously advance into Austrian Galicia and East Prussia as soon as possible. 

Although their attack on Galicia was largely successful, and the invasions achieved their 

aim of forcing Germany to divert troops from the Western Front, the speed of 

mobilisation meant they did so without much of their heavy equipment and support 

functions. These weaknesses contributed to Russian defeats at Tannenberg and 
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the Masurian Lakes in August and September 1914, forcing them to withdraw from East 

Prussia with heavy losses. By spring 1915, they had also retreated from Galicia, and the 

May 1915 Gorlice–Tarnów offensive then allowed the Central Powers to invade Russian-

occupied Poland.[160] On 5 August, the loss of Warsaw forced the Russians to abandon 

their Polish territories.  

Despite the successful June 1916 Brusilov offensive against the Austrians in eastern 

Galicia, shortages of supplies, heavy losses and command failures prevented the Russians 

from fully exploiting their victory. However, it was one of the most significant and 

impactful offensives of the war, diverting German resources from Verdun, relieving 

Austro-Hungarian pressure on the Italians, and convincing Romania to enter the war on 

the side of the Allies on 27 August. It also fatally weakened both the Austrian and 

Russian armies, whose offensive capabilities were badly affected by their losses and 

increased the disillusionment with the war that ultimately led to the Russian revolutions.  

Meanwhile, unrest grew in Russia as the Tsar remained at the front, with the home front 

controlled by Empress Alexandra. Her increasingly incompetent rule and food shortages 

in urban areas led to widespread protests and the murder of her favourite, Grigori 

Rasputin, at the end of 1916.  

Final years of the war 

Russian Revolution and withdrawal 

By the end of 1916, Russian casualties totalled nearly five million killed, 

wounded or captured, with major urban areas affected by food shortages and high prices. 

In March 1917, Tsar Nicholas ordered the military to forcibly suppress a wave of strikes 

in Petrograd but the troops refused to fire on the crowds. Revolutionaries set up 

the Petrograd Soviet and fearing a left-wing takeover, the State Duma forced Nicholas to 

abdicate and established the Russian Provisional Government, which confirmed Russia's 

willingness to continue the war. However, the Petrograd Soviet refused to disband, 

creating competing power centres and caused confusion and chaos, with frontline soldiers 

becoming increasingly demoralised and unwilling to fight on.  

 

United States enters the war 

President Wilson asking Congress to declare war on Germany, 2 April 1917 
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The United States was a major supplier of war materiel to the Allies but remained neutral 

in 1914, in large part due to domestic opposition. The most significant factor in creating 

the support Wilson needed was the German submarine offensive, which not only cost 

American lives, but paralysed trade as ships were reluctant to put to sea.  

On 6 April 1917, Congress declared war on Germany as an "Associated Power" of the 

Allies. The United States Navy sent a battleship group to Scapa Flow to join the Grand 

Fleet and provided convoy escorts. In April 1917, the United States Army had fewer than 

300,000 men, including National Guard units, compared to British and French armies of 

4.1 and 8.3 million respectively. The Selective Service Act of 1917 drafted 2.8 million 

men, although training and equipping such numbers was a huge logistical challenge. By 

June 1918, over 667,000 members of the American Expeditionary Forces (AEF), had 

been transported to France, a figure which reached 2 million by the end of November.  

Despite his conviction Germany must be defeated, Wilson went to war to ensure the US 

played a leading role in shaping the peace, which meant preserving the AEF as a separate 

military force, rather than being absorbed into British or French units as his Allies 

wanted. He was strongly supported by AEF commander General John J. Pershing, a 

proponent of pre-1914 "open warfare" who considered the French and British emphasis 

on artillery as misguided and incompatible with American "offensive spirit". Much to the 

frustration of his Allies, who had suffered heavy losses in 1917, he insisted on retaining 

control of American troops and refused to commit them to the front line until able to 

operate as independent units. As a result, the first significant US involvement was 

the Meuse–Argonne offensive in late September 1918.  

 

Nivelle Offensive (April–May 1917) 

French infantry advance on the Chemin des Dames, April 1917 

In December 1916, Robert Nivelle replaced Pétain as commander of French armies on 

the Western Front and began planning a spring attack in Champagne, part of a joint 

Franco-British operation. Nivelle claimed the capture of his main objective, the Chemin 

des Dames, would achieve a massive breakthrough and cost no more than 15,000 

casualties. Poor security meant German intelligence was well informed on tactics and 

timetables, but despite this, when the attack began on 16 April the French made 
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substantial gains, before being brought to a halt by the newly built and extremely strong 

defences of the Hindenburg Line. Nivelle persisted with frontal assaults and by 25 April 

the French had suffered nearly 135,000 casualties, including 30,000 dead, most incurred 

in the first two days.  Canadian Corps troops at the Battle of Vimy Ridge, 1917 

Concurrent British attacks at Arras were more successful, although ultimately of little 

strategic value. Operating as a separate unit for the first time, the Canadian Corps capture 

of Vimy Ridge during the battle is viewed by many Canadians as a defining moment in 

creating a sense of national identity. Although Nivelle continued the offensive, on 3 May 

the 21st Division, which had been involved in some of the heaviest fighting at Verdun, 

refused orders to go into battle, initiating the French Army mutinies; within days, acts of 

"collective indiscipline" had spread to 54 divisions, while over 20,000 

deserted.[184] Unrest was almost entirely confined to the infantry, whose demands were 

largely non-political, including better economic support for families at home, and regular 

periods of leave, which Nivelle had ended.  

 

Formal end of the war 

The signing of the Treaty of Versailles in the Hall of Mirrors, Versailles, 28 June 

1919, by Sir William Orpen 

A formal state of war between the two sides persisted for another seven months, until the 

signing of the Treaty of Versailles with Germany on 28 June 1919. The United States 

Senate did not ratify the treaty despite public support for it, and did not formally end its 

involvement in the war until the Knox–Porter Resolution was signed on 2 July 1921 by 

President Warren G. Harding.[224] For the United Kingdom and the British Empire, the 

state of war ceased under the provisions of the Termination of the Present War 

(Definition) Act 1918 with respect to: 

 Germany on 10 January 1920.[225] 

 Austria on 16 July 1920.[226] 

 Bulgaria on 9 August 1920.[227] 

 Hungary on 26 July 1921.[228] 

 Turkey on 6 August 1924.[229] 
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 Greek prime minister Eleftherios Venizelos signing the Treaty of Sèvres 

After the Treaty of Versailles, treaties with Austria, Hungary, Bulgaria, and the Ottoman 

Empire were signed. The Ottoman Empire disintegrated, with much of its Levant territory 

awarded to various Allied powers as protectorates. The Turkish core in Anatolia was 

reorganised as the Republic of Turkey. The Ottoman Empire was to be partitioned by 

the Treaty of Sèvres of 1920. This treaty was never ratified by the Sultan and was 

rejected by the Turkish National Movement, leading to the victorious Turkish War of 

Independence and the much less stringent 1923 Treaty of Lausanne.
[
citation needed

]
 

Some war memorials date the end of the war as being when the Versailles Treaty was 

signed in 1919, which was when many of the troops serving abroad finally returned 

home; by contrast, most commemorations of the war's end concentrate on the armistice of 

11 November 1918.[230] Legally, the formal peace treaties were not complete until the 

last, the Treaty of Lausanne, was signed. Under its terms, the Allied forces 

left Constantinople on 23 August 1923.  

 

Peace treaties and national boundaries 

After the war, there grew a certain amount of academic focus on the causes of war 

and on the elements that could make peace flourish. In part, these led to the 

institutionalization of peace and conflict studies, security studies and International 

Relations (IR) in general. The Paris Peace Conference imposed a series of peace treaties 

on the Central Powers officially ending the war. The 1919 Treaty of Versailles dealt with 

Germany and, building on Wilson's 14th point, brought into being the League of 

Nations on 28 June 1919.  

The Central Powers had to acknowledge responsibility for "all the loss and damage to 

which the Allied and Associated Governments and their nationals have been subjected as 

a consequence of the war imposed upon them by" their aggression. In the Treaty of 

Versailles, this statement was Article 231. This article became known as the War Guilt 

clause as the majority of Germans felt humiliated and resentful. Overall the Germans felt 

they had been unjustly dealt with by what they called the "diktat of Versailles". German 

historian Hagen Schulze said the Treaty placed Germany "under legal sanctions, deprived 

of military power, economically ruined, and politically humiliated." Belgian historian 
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Laurence Van Ypersele emphasises the central role played by memory of the war and the 

Versailles Treaty in German politics in the 1920s and 1930s: 

Active denial of war guilt in Germany and German resentment at both reparations and 

continued Allied occupation of the Rhineland made widespread revision of the meaning 

and memory of the war problematic. The legend of the "stab in the back" and the wish to 

revise the "Versailles diktat", and the belief in an international threat aimed at the 

elimination of the German nation persisted at the heart of German politics. Even a man of 

peace such as [Gustav] Stresemann publicly rejected German guilt. As for the Nazis, they 

waved the banners of domestic treason and international conspiracy in an attempt to 

galvanise the German nation into a spirit of revenge. Like a Fascist Italy, Nazi Germany 

sought to redirect the memory of the war to the benefit of its own policies.  

 

Franklin D. Roosevelt 

 

Franklin Delano Roosevelt (January 30, 1882 – April 12, 1945), commonly 

known by his initials FDR, was an American statesman and politician who served as the 

32nd president of the United States from 1933 until his death in 1945. He directed the 

federal government during most of the Great Depression, implementing the New Deal in 

response to the most significant economic crisis in American history. He also built 

the New Deal coalition, realigning American politics into the Fifth Party System and 

defining American liberalism throughout the middle third of the 20th century. He was a 

member of the Democratic Party and is the only U.S. president to have served more than 

eight years in office; his third and fourth terms were dominated by World War II. 

After attending college, Roosevelt began to practice law in New York City. He 

was a member of the New York State Senate from 1911 to 1913 and then the assistant 

secretary of the Navy under President Woodrow Wilson during World War I. Roosevelt 

was James M. Cox's running mate on the Democratic Party's ticket in the 1920 U.S. 

presidential election, but Cox lost to Republican nominee Warren G. Harding. In 1921, 

Roosevelt contracted a paralytic illness that permanently paralyzed his legs. He returned 

to public office as governor of New York from 1929 to 1933, during which he promoted 
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programs to combat the Great Depression besetting the U.S. In the 1932 presidential 

election, Roosevelt defeated Republican president Herbert Hoover in a landslide. 

During his first 100 days as president, Roosevelt spearheaded unprecedented federal 

legislation and issued a profusion of executive orders that instituted the New Deal. He 

created numerous programs to provide relief to the unemployed and farmers while 

seeking economic recovery with the National Recovery Administration and other 

programs. He also instituted major regulatory reforms related to finance, 

communications, and labor, and presided over the end of Prohibition. In 1936, 

Roosevelt won a landslide reelection with the economy having improved from 1933, but 

the economy relapsed into a deep recession in 1937 and 1938. He was unable to expand 

the Supreme Court in 1937, the same year the conservative coalition was formed to block 

the implementation of further New Deal programs and reforms. Major surviving 

programs and legislation implemented under Roosevelt include the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, the National Labor Relations Act, the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation, and Social Security. In 1940, he ran successfully for reelection, becoming 

the only American president to serve for more than two terms. 

 

Early life and marriage 

Childhood 

Franklin Delano Roosevelt was born on January 30, 1882, in the Hudson 

Valley town of Hyde Park, New York, to businessman James Roosevelt I and his second 

wife, Sara Ann Delano. His parents, who were sixth cousins, both came from wealthy, 

established New York families, the Roosevelts, the Aspinwalls and the Delanos, 

respectively. Roosevelt's paternal ancestor migrated to New Amsterdam in the 17th 

century, and the Roosevelts succeeded as merchants and landowners. The Delano family 

patriarch, Philip Delano, traveled to the New World on the Fortune in 1621, and the 

Delanos thrived as merchants and shipbuilders in Massachusetts.  Franklin had a half-

brother, James Roosevelt "Rosy" Roosevelt, from his father's previous marriage.  

Roosevelt's father, James, graduated from Harvard Law School in 1851 but chose not to 

practice law after receiving an inheritance from his grandfather. James Roosevelt, a 

prominent Bourbon Democrat, once took Franklin to meet President Grover Cleveland, 
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who said to him: "My little man, I am making a strange wish for you. It is that you may 

never be President of the United States." Franklin's mother, the dominant influence in his 

early years, once declared, "My son Franklin is a Delano, not a Roosevelt at all." James, 

who was 54 when Franklin was born, was considered by some as a remote father, though 

biographer James MacGregor Burns indicates James interacted with his son more than 

was typical at the time.  

Education and early career 

 

As a child, Roosevelt learned to ride, shoot, and sail; he also learned to play polo, 

tennis, and golf. Frequent trips to Europe—beginning at age two and from age seven to 

fifteen—helped Roosevelt become conversant in German and French. Except for 

attending public school in Germany at age nine, Roosevelt was home-schooled by tutors 

until age 14. He then attended Groton School, an Episcopal boarding school in Groton, 

Massachusetts. He was not among the more popular Groton students, who were better 

athletes and had rebellious streaks. Its headmaster, Endicott Peabody, preached the duty 

of Christians to help the less fortunate and urged his students to enter public service. 

Peabody remained a strong influence throughout Roosevelt's life, officiating at his 

wedding and visiting him as president.  

 

Marriage, family, and marital affairs 

During his second year of college, he met and proposed to Boston heiress Alice 

Sohier, who turned him down. Franklin then began courting his child-acquaintance and 

fifth cousin once removed, Eleanor Roosevelt, a niece of Theodore Roosevelt. In 1903 

Franklin proposed to Eleanor, and after resistance from his mother, they were married on 

March 17, 1905. Eleanor's father, Elliott, was deceased, and her uncle Theodore, then the 

president, gave away the bride. The young couple moved into Springwood, and Franklin 

and Sara Roosevelt also provided a townhouse for the couple in New York City, where 

Sara built a house alongside for herself. Eleanor never felt at home in the houses at Hyde 

Park or New York, but she loved the family's vacation home on Campobello Island, 

which Sara also gave the couple. Burns indicates young Roosevelt was self-assured and 

at ease in the upper class, while Eleanor was then shy and disliked social life, and initially 
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stayed home to raise their children. As his father had, Franklin left the raising of the 

children to his wife, and Eleanor delegated it to caregivers. She later said she knew 

"absolutely nothing about handling or feeding a baby." Although Eleanor thought sex 

was "an ordeal to be endured", she and Franklin had six children. Anna, James, 

and Elliott were born in 1906, 1907, and 1910, respectively. The couple's second son, 

Franklin, died in infancy in 1909. Another son, also named Franklin, was born in 1914, 

and the youngest child, John, was born in 1916.  

 

Early political career (1910–1920) 

New York state senator (1910–1913) 

 

Roosevelt cared little for the practice of law and told friends he planned to enter 

politics. Despite his admiration for cousin Theodore, Franklin shared his father's bond 

with the Democratic Party, and in preparation for the 1910 elections, the party recruited 

Roosevelt to run for a seat in the New York State Assembly. Roosevelt was a compelling 

recruit for the party. He had the personality and energy for campaigning, and he had the 

money to pay for his own campaign. But Roosevelt's campaign for the state assembly 

ended after the Democratic incumbent, Lewis Stuyvesant Chanler, chose to seek re-

election. Rather than putting his political hopes on hold, Roosevelt ran for a seat in the 

state senate. The senate district, located in Dutchess, Columbia, and Putnam, was 

strongly Republican. Roosevelt feared that opposition from Theodore could end his 

campaign, but Theodore encouraged his candidacy despite their party differences. Acting 

as his own campaign manager, Roosevelt traveled throughout the senate district via 

automobile at a time when few could afford a car.  Due to his aggressive campaign,  his 

name recognition in the Hudson Valley, and the Democratic landslide in the 1910 United 

States elections, Roosevelt won a surprising victory.  

 

Assistant Secretary of the Navy (1913–1919) 

 

Roosevelt's support of Wilson led to his appointment in March 1913 as Assistant 

Secretary of the Navy, the second-ranking official in the Navy Department after 
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Secretary Josephus Daniels who paid it little attention. Roosevelt had an affection for 

the Navy, was well-read on the subject, and was a most ardent supporter of a large, 

efficient force. With Wilson's support, Daniels and Roosevelt instituted a merit-based 

promotion system and made other reforms to extend civilian control over the autonomous 

departments of the Navy. Roosevelt oversaw the Navy's civilian employees and earned 

the respect of union leaders for his fairness in resolving disputes. No strikes occurred 

during his seven-plus years in the office, as he gained valuable experience in labor issues, 

wartime management, naval issues, and logistics.  

In 1914, Roosevelt ran for the seat of retiring Republican Senator Elihu Root of New 

York. Though he had the backing of Treasury Secretary William Gibbs McAdoo and 

Governor Martin H. Glynn, he faced a formidable opponent in Tammany-Hall's James 

W. Gerard. He also was without Wilson's support, as the president needed Tammany's 

forces for his legislation and 1916 re-election Roosevelt was soundly defeated in the 

Democratic primary by Gerard, who in turn lost the general election to Republican James 

Wolcott Wadsworth Jr. He learned that federal patronage alone, without White House 

support, could not defeat a strong local organizatio After the election, he and Tammany 

Hall boss Charles Francis Murphy sought accommodation and became allies.  

Roosevelt refocused on the Navy Department, as World War I broke out in Europe in 

August 1914. Though he remained publicly supportive of Wilson, Roosevelt sympathized 

with the Preparedness Movement, whose leaders strongly favored the Allied Powers and 

called for a military build-up. The Wilson administration initiated an expansion of the 

Navy after the sinking of the RMS Lusitania by a German submarine, and Roosevelt 

helped establish the United States Navy Reserve and the Council of National Defense. In 

April 1917, after Germany declared it would engage in unrestricted submarine 

warfare and attacked several U.S. ships, Congress approved Wilson's call for 

a declaration of war on Germany.  

 

Campaign for vice president (1920) 

Roosevelt's plan for Hoover to run for the nomination fell through after Hoover 

publicly declared himself to be a Republican, but Roosevelt decided to seek the 1920 vice 

presidential nomination. After Governor James M. Cox of Ohio won the party's 
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presidential nomination at the 1920 Democratic National Convention, he chose Roosevelt 

as his running mate, and the convention nominated him by acclamation. Although his 

nomination surprised most people, he balanced the ticket as a moderate, a Wilsonian, and 

a prohibitionist with a famous name. Roosevelt, then 38, resigned as Assistant Secretary 

after the Democratic convention and campaigned across the nation for the party ticket.  

During the campaign, Cox and Roosevelt defended the Wilson administration and 

the League of Nations, both of which were unpopular in 1920. Roosevelt personally 

supported U.S. membership in the League of Nations, but, unlike Wilson, he favored 

compromising with Senator Henry Cabot Lodge and other "Reservationists". The Cox–

Roosevelt ticket was defeated by Republicans Warren G. Harding and Calvin Coolidge in 

the presidential election by a wide margin, and the Republican ticket carried every state 

outside of the South. Roosevelt accepted the loss without issue and later reflected that the 

relationships and goodwill that he built in the 1920 campaign proved to be a major asset 

in his 1932 campaign. The 1920 election also saw the first public participation of Eleanor 

Roosevelt who, with the support of Louis Howe, established herself as a valuable 

political player. 

 

Governor of New York (1929–1932) 

Smith, the Democratic presidential nominee in the 1928 election, asked Roosevelt 

to run for governor of New York in the 1928 state election. Roosevelt initially resisted, as 

he was reluctant to leave Warm Springs and feared a Republican landslide in 1928. Party 

leaders eventually convinced him only he could defeat the Republican gubernatorial 

nominee, New York Attorney General Albert Ottinger. He won the party's gubernatorial 

nomination by acclamation and again turned to Howe to lead his campaign. Roosevelt 

was also joined on the campaign trail by associates Samuel Rosenman, Frances Perkins, 

and James Farley. While Smith lost the presidency in a landslide, and was defeated in his 

home state, Roosevelt was elected governor by a one-percent margin, and became a 

contender in the next presidential election.  
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1932 presidential election 

As the 1932 presidential election approached, Roosevelt turned his attention to 

national politics, established a campaign team led by Howe and Farley, and a "brain 

trust" of policy advisers, primarily composed of Columbia University and Harvard 

University professors.  There were some who were not so sanguine about his chances, 

such as Walter Lippmann, the dean of political commentators, who observed of 

Roosevelt: "He is a pleasant man who, without any important qualifications for the office, 

would very much like to be president."  

However, Roosevelt's efforts as governor to address the effects of the depression in his 

own state established him as the front-runner for the 1932 Democratic presidential 

nomination.[133] Roosevelt rallied the progressive supporters of the Wilson 

administration while also appealing to many conservatives, establishing himself as the 

leading candidate in the South and West. The chief opposition to Roosevelt's candidacy 

came from Northeastern conservatives, Speaker of the House John Nance Garner of 

Texas and Al Smith, the 1928 Democratic presidential nominee.  

 

Transition and assassination attempt 

        Roosevelt was elected in November 1932 but like his predecessors did not take 

office until the following March. After the election, President Hoover sought to convince 

Roosevelt to renounce much of his campaign platform and to endorse the Hoover 

administration's policies. Roosevelt refused Hoover's request to develop a joint program 

to stop the economic decline, claiming that it would tie his hands and that Hoover had the 

power to act.  

During the transition, Roosevelt chose Howe as his chief of staff, and Farley as 

Postmaster General. Frances Perkins, as Secretary of Labor, became the first woman 

appointed to a cabinet position. William H. Woodin, a Republican industrialist close to 

Roosevelt, was the choice for Secretary of the Treasury, while Roosevelt chose 

Senator Cordell Hull of Tennessee as Secretary of State. Harold L. Ickes and Henry A. 

Wallace, two progressive Republicans, were selected for the roles of Secretary of the 

Interior and Secretary of Agriculture, respectively.  
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Presidency (1933–1945) 

As president, Roosevelt appointed powerful men to top positions but made all the 

major decisions, regardless of delays, inefficiency, or resentment. Analyzing the 

president's administrative style, Burns concludes: 

The president stayed in charge of his administration...by drawing fully on his formal and 

informal powers as Chief Executive; by raising goals, creating momentum, inspiring a 

personal loyalty, getting the best out of people...by deliberately fostering among his aides 

a sense of competition and a clash of wills that led to disarray, heartbreak, and anger but 

also set off pulses of executive energy and sparks of creativity...by handing out one job to 

several men and several jobs to one man, thus strengthening his own position as a court 

of appeals, as a depository of information, and as a tool of co-ordination; by ignoring or 

bypassing collective decision-making agencies, such as the Cabinet...and always by 

persuading, flattering, juggling, improvising, reshuffling, harmonizing, conciliating, 

manipulating.  

 

First and second terms (1933–1941) 

When Roosevelt was inaugurated on March 4, 1933, the U.S. was at the nadir of 

the worst depression in its history. A quarter of the workforce was unemployed, and 

farmers were in deep trouble as prices had fallen by 60%. Industrial production had fallen 

by more than half since 1929. Two million people were homeless. By the evening of 

March 4, 32 of the 48 states—as well as the District of Columbia—had closed their 

banks. Historians categorized Roosevelt's program as "relief, recovery, and reform." 

Relief was urgently needed by tens of millions of unemployed. Recovery meant boosting 

the economy back to normal, and reform was required of the financial and banking 

systems. Through Roosevelt's series of 30 "fireside chats", he presented his proposals 

directly to the American public as a series of radio addresses. Energized by his own 

victory over paralytic illness, he used persistent optimism and activism to renew the 

national spirit.  
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First New Deal (1933–1934) 

On his second day in office, Roosevelt declared a four-day national "bank 

holiday", to end the run by depositors seeking to withdraw funds.[153] He called for a 

special session of Congress on March 9, when Congress passed, almost sight unseen, 

the Emergency Banking Act.[153] The act, first developed by the Hoover administration 

and Wall Street bankers, gave the president the power to determine the opening and 

closing of banks and authorized the Federal Reserve Banks to issue banknotes. The "first 

100 Days" of the 73rd United States Congress saw an unprecedented amount of 

legislation and set a benchmark against which future presidents have been compared. 

 When the banks reopened on Monday, March 15, stock prices rose by 15 percent and in 

the following weeks over $1 billion was returned to bank vaults, ending the bank 

panic. On March 22, Roosevelt signed the Cullen–Harrison Act, which brought 

Prohibition to a close.  

 

Roosevelt saw the establishment of a number of agencies and measures designed 

to provide relief for the unemployed and others. The Federal Emergency Relief 

Administration (FERA), under the leadership of Harry Hopkins, distributed relief to state 

governments. The Public Works Administration (PWA), under Secretary of the Interior  

Harold Ickes, oversaw the construction of large-scale public works such as dams, bridges, 

and schools.  The most popular of all New Deal agencies—and Roosevelt's favorite was 

the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC), which hired 250,000 unemployed men to work 

in rural projects. Roosevelt also expanded Hoover's Reconstruction Finance Corporation, 

which financed railroads and industry. Congress gave the Federal Trade 

Commission (FTC) broad regulatory powers and provided mortgage relief to millions of 

farmers and homeowners. Roosevelt also set up the Agricultural Adjustment 

Administration (AAA) to increase commodity prices, by paying farmers to leave land 

uncultivated and cut herds. In many instances, crops were plowed under and livestock 

killed, while many Americans died of hunger and were ill-clothed; critics labeled such 

policies "utterly idiotic." On the positive side, nothing did more to rescue the farm family 

from isolation than the Rural Electrification Administration (REA), which brought 
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electricity for the first time to millions of rural homes and with it such conveniences as 

radios and washing machines."  

 

Second New Deal (1935–1936) 

Roosevelt expected that his party would lose seats in the 1934 Congressional 

elections, as the president's party had done in most previous midterm elections. 

Unexpectedly the Democrats picked up seats in both houses of Congress. Empowered by 

the public's vote of confidence, the first item on Roosevelt's agenda in the 74th 

Congress was the creation of a social insurance program. The Social Security 

Act established Social Security and promised economic security for the elderly, the poor, 

and the sick. Roosevelt insisted that it should be funded by payroll taxes rather than from 

the general fund, saying, "We put those payroll contributions there so as to give the 

contributors a legal, moral, and political right to collect their pensions and unemployment 

benefits. With those taxes in there, no damn politician can ever scrap my social security 

program." Compared with the social security systems in western European countries, the 

Social Security Act of 1935 was rather conservative. But for the first time, the federal 

government took responsibility for the economic security of the aged, the temporarily 

unemployed, dependent children, and disabled people. Against Roosevelt's original 

intention for universal coverage, the act excluded farmers, domestic workers, and other 

groups, which made up about forty percent of the labor force. Roosevelt consolidated the 

various relief organizations, though some, like the PWA, continued to exist. After 

winning Congressional authorization for further funding of relief efforts, he established 

the Works Progress Administration (WPA). Under the leadership of Harry Hopkins, the 

WPA employed over three million people in its first year of operations. It undertook 

numerous massive construction projects in cooperation with local governments. It also set 

up the National Youth Administration and arts organizations. The National Labor 

Relations Act guaranteed workers the right to collective bargaining through unions of 

their own choice. The act also established the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) to 

facilitate wage agreements and suppress repeated labor disturbances. The act did not 

compel employers to reach an agreement with their employees, but it opened possibilities 

for American labor. The result was a tremendous growth of membership in the labor 

https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_elections,_1934
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_elections,_1934
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_midterm_election
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/74th_United_States_Congress
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/74th_United_States_Congress
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Social_insurance
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Social_Security_Act
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Social_Security_Act
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Works_Progress_Administration
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Youth_Administration
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Labor_Relations_Act
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Labor_Relations_Act
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Collective_bargaining
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Labor_Relations_Board


unions, especially in the mass-production sector. When the Flint sit-down 

strike threatened the production of General Motors, Roosevelt broke with the precedent 

set by many former presidents and refused to intervene; the strike ultimately led to the 

unionization of both General Motors and its rivals in the American automobile industry.  

 

John F. Kennedy 

John Fitzgerald Kennedy (May 29, 1917 – November 22, 1963), often referred 

to by his initials JFK and by the nickname Jack, was an American politician who served 

as the 35th president of the United States from 1961 until his assassination in 1963. He 

was the youngest person to assume the presidency by election and the youngest president 

at the end of his tenure. Kennedy served at the height of the Cold War, and the majority 

of his foreign policy concerned relations with the Soviet Union and Cuba. 

A Democrat from Massachusetts, Kennedy served in both houses of the U.S. 

Congress prior to his presidency. 

Born into the prominent Kennedy family in Brookline, Massachusetts, Kennedy 

graduated from Harvard University in 1940 before joining the U.S. Naval Reserve the 

following year. During World War II, he commanded a series of PT boats in the Pacific 

theater. Kennedy's survival following the sinking of PT-109 and his rescue of his fellow 

sailors made him a war hero and earned the Navy and Marine Corps Medal, but left him 

with serious injuries. After a brief stint in journalism, Kennedy represented a working-

class Boston district in the U.S. House of Representatives from 1947 to 1953. He was 

subsequently elected to the U.S. Senate and served as the junior senator for 

Massachusetts from 1953 to 1960. While in the Senate, Kennedy published his 

book, Profiles in Courage, which won a Pulitzer Prize. Kennedy ran in the 1960 

presidential election. His campaign gained momentum after the first televised presidential 

debates in American history, and he was elected president, narrowly 

defeating Republican opponent Richard Nixon, who was the incumbent vice president. 

Kennedy's administration included high tensions with communist states in the Cold War. 

As a result, he increased the number of American military advisers in South Vietnam. 

The Strategic Hamlet Program began in Vietnam during his presidency. In April 1961, he 

authorized an attempt to overthrow the Cuban government of Fidel Castro in the 
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failed Bay of Pigs Invasion. In November 1961, he authorized Operation Mongoose, also 

aimed at removing the communists from power in Cuba. He rejected Operation 

Northwoods in March 1962, but his administration continued to plan for an invasion of 

Cuba in the summer of 1962. The following October, U.S. spy planes discovered Soviet 

missile bases had been deployed in Cuba. The resulting period of tensions, termed 

the Cuban Missile Crisis, nearly resulted in the breakout of a global thermonuclear 

conflict. He also signed the first nuclear weapons treaty in October 1963. Kennedy 

presided over the establishment of the Peace Corps, Alliance for Progress with Latin 

America, and the continuation of the Apollo program with the goal of landing a man on 

the Moon before 1970. He also supported the civil rights movement but was only 

somewhat successful in passing his New Frontier domestic policies. 

On November 22, 1963, Kennedy was assassinated in Dallas. His vice president, Lyndon 

B. Johnson, assumed the presidency upon Kennedy's death. Lee Harvey Oswald, a 

former U.S. Marine, was arrested for the assassination, but he was shot and killed by Jack 

Ruby two days later. The FBI and the Warren Commission both concluded Oswald had 

acted alone, but conspiracy theories about the assassination still persist. After Kennedy's 

death, Congress enacted many of his proposals, including the Civil Rights Act of 

1964 and the Revenue Act of 1964. Kennedy ranks highly in polls of U.S. presidents with 

historians and the general public. His personal life has also been the focus of considerable 

sustained interest following public revelations in the 1970s of his chronic health ailments 

and extramarital affairs. Kennedy is the most recent U.S. president to have died in office. 

Early life and education 

Kennedy's birthplace in Brookline, Massachusetts 

John Fitzgerald Kennedy was born outside Boston in Brookline, Massachusetts on May 

29, 1917, at 83 Beals Street, to Joseph P. Kennedy Sr., a businessman and politician, 

and Rose Kennedy (née Fitzgerald), a philanthropist and socialite.[3] His paternal 

grandfather, P. J. Kennedy, served as a Massachusetts state legislator. Kennedy's 

maternal grandfather and namesake, John F. Fitzgerald, served as a U.S. Congressman 

and was elected to two terms as Mayor of Boston. All four of his grandparents were 

children of Irish immigrants. Kennedy had an older brother, Joseph Jr., and seven 

younger siblings: Rosemary, Kathleen, Eunice, Patricia, Robert, Jean, and Edward. 
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Kennedy lived in Brookline for the first ten years of his life. He attended the local St. 

Aidan's Church, where he was baptized on June 19, 1917. He was educated through the 

4th grade at the Edward Devotion School, the Noble and Greenough Lower School, and 

the Dexter School; all located in the Boston area. Kennedy's first exposure to politics was 

touring the Boston wards with his grandfather Fitzgerald during his failed gubernatorial 

campaign in 1922. His father amassed a private fortune through a variety of activities and 

established trust funds for his nine children that guaranteed lifelong financial 

independence. His business kept him away from home for long stretches, but Joe Sr. was 

a formidable presence in his children's lives, nevertheless.  

 

U.S. Naval Reserve (1941–1945) 

Kennedy planned to attend Yale Law School, but canceled when American entry 

into World War II seemed imminent. In 1940, Kennedy attempted to enter the 

army's Officer Candidate School. Despite months of training, he was medically 

disqualified due to his chronic lower back problems. On September 24, 1941, Kennedy, 

with the help of the director of the Office of Naval Intelligence (ONI) and the former 

naval attaché to Joe Sr., Alan Kirk, joined the United States Naval Reserve. He was 

commissioned an ensign on October 26, 1941, and joined the staff of the Office of Naval 

Intelligence in Washington, D.C.  

Lieutenant (junior grade) Kennedy (standing at right) with his PT-109 crew, 1943 

In January 1942, Kennedy was assigned to the ONI field office at Headquarters, Sixth 

Naval District, in Charleston, South Carolina. His hope was to be the commander of a PT 

(patrol torpedo) boat, but his health problems seemed almost certain to prevent him from 

active duty. Kennedy's father intervened by providing misleading medical records and 

convincing PT officers that his presence would bring publicity to the fleet.[44] Kennedy 

completed six months of training at the Naval Reserve Officer Training School in 

Chicago and at the Motor Torpedo Boat Squadrons Training Center in Melville, Rhode 

Island. His first command was PT-101 from December 7, 1942, until February 23, 

1943. Unhappy to be assigned to the Panama Canal, far from the fighting, Kennedy 
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appealed to U.S. Senator David Walsh of Massachusetts, who arranged for him to be 

assigned to the South Pacific.  

 

U.S. House of Representatives (1947–1953) 

JFK's elder brother Joe Jr. had been the family's political standard-bearer and had 

been tapped by their father to seek the presidency. Joe's death during the war in 1944 

changed that course and the assignment fell to JFK as the second eldest of the Kennedy 

siblings. In the summer of 1945, Joe Kennedy Sr. made a special effort to renew the 

family's presence in Massachusetts (i.e., a ship-launching ceremony for the USS Joseph 

P. Kennedy Jr. to remind voters that two of his sons were war heroes). Boston 

mayor Maurice J. Tobin discussed the possibility of John becoming his running mate 

in 1946 as a candidate for lieutenant governor, but Joe Sr. preferred a congressional 

campaign that could send his son to Washington, where he could have national visibility.  

Kennedy (back row, second from right) and Richard Nixon (far right) participate in a 

radio broadcast as 1947 freshmen House members. 

At the urging of Kennedy's father, U.S. Representative James Michael Curley vacated his 

seat in the strongly Democratic 11th congressional district of Massachusetts to become 

mayor of Boston in 1946. Kennedy established his legal residency at a three-room 

apartment on 122 Bowdoin Street across from the Massachusetts State House. With his 

father financing and running his campaign under the slogan "The New Generation Offers 

a Leader", Kennedy won the Democratic primary with 42 percent of the vote, defeating 

nine other candidates. His father joked after the election, "With the money I spent, I 

could have elected my chauffeur." Campaigning around Boston, Kennedy called for 

better housing for veterans, better health care for all, and support for organized labor's 

campaign for reasonable work hours, a healthy workplace, and the right to organize, 

bargain, and strike. In addition, he campaigned for peace through the United Nations and 

strong opposition to the Soviet Union.   

 

1960 presidential election 

On December 17, 1959, a letter from Kennedy's staff which was to be sent to 

"active and influential Democrats" was leaked stating that he would announce his 
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presidential campaign on January 2, 1960. On January 2, 1960, Kennedy announced his 

candidacy for the Democratic presidential nomination. Though some questioned 

Kennedy's age and experience, his charisma and eloquence earned him numerous 

supporters. Many Americans held anti-Catholic attitudes, but Kennedy's vocal support of 

the separation of church and state helped defuse the situation. His religion also helped 

him win a devoted following among many Catholic voters. Kennedy faced several 

potential challengers for the Democratic nomination, including Senate Majority 

Leader Lyndon B. Johnson, Adlai Stevenson II, and Senator Hubert Humphrey.  

Kennedy's presidential campaign was a family affair, funded by his father and with his 

younger brother Robert, acting as his campaign manager. John preferred Ivy League 

policy advisors, but unlike his father, he enjoyed the give and take of Massachusetts 

politics and built a largely Irish team of campaigners, headed by Larry 

O'Brien and Kenneth O'Donnell. Kennedy traveled extensively to build his support 

among Democratic elites and voters. At the time, party officials controlled most of the 

delegates, but several states also held primaries, and Kennedy sought to win several 

primaries to boost his chances of winning the nomination. In his first major test, Kennedy 

won the Wisconsin primary, effectively ending Humphrey's hopes of winning the 

presidency. Nonetheless, Kennedy and Humphrey faced each other in a competitive West 

Virginia primary in which Kennedy could not benefit from a Catholic bloc, as he had in 

Wisconsin. Kennedy won the West Virginia primary, impressing many in the party, but at 

the start of the 1960 Democratic National Convention, it was unclear as to whether he 

would win the nomination.  

 

Presidency (1961–1963) 

John F. Kennedy was sworn in as the 35th president at noon on January 20, 1961. 

In his inaugural address, he spoke of the need for all Americans to be active citizens: 

"Ask not what your country can do for you—ask what you can do for your country." He 

asked the nations of the world to join to fight what he called the "common enemies of 

man: tyranny, poverty, disease, and war itself". During the summer of 1962, Kennedy 

had a secret taping system set up in the White House, most likely to aid his future 
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memoir. It recorded many conversations with Kennedy and his Cabinet members, 

including those in relation to the "Cuban Missile Crisis". 

 

Foreign policy 

 

Kennedy's foreign policy was dominated by American confrontations with the 

Soviet Union, manifested by proxy contests in the early stage of the Cold War. In 1961 

he anxiously anticipated a summit with Soviet Premier Nikita Khrushchev. He started off 

on the wrong foot by reacting aggressively to a routine Khrushchev speech on Cold War 

confrontation in early 1961. The speech was intended for domestic audiences in the 

Soviet Union, but Kennedy interpreted it as a personal challenge. His mistake helped 

raise tensions going into the Vienna summit of June 1961.  

On the way to the summit, Kennedy stopped in Paris to meet French President Charles de 

Gaulle, who advised him to ignore Khrushchev's abrasive style. The French president 

feared the United States' presumed influence in Europe. Nevertheless, de Gaulle was 

quite impressed with the young president and his family. Kennedy picked up on this in 

his speech in Paris, saying that he would be remembered as "the man who accompanied 

Jackie Kennedy to Paris". 

 On June 4, 1961, Kennedy met with Khrushchev in Vienna and left the meetings angry 

and disappointed that he had allowed the premier to bully him, despite the warnings he had 

received. Khrushchev, for his part, was impressed with the president's intelligence but thought 

him weak. Kennedy did succeed in conveying the bottom line to Khrushchev on the most 

sensitive issue before them, a proposed treaty between Moscow and East Berlin. He made it clear 

that any treaty interfering with U.S. access rights in West Berlin would be regarded as an act of 

war. Shortly after Kennedy returned home, the U.S.S.R. announced its plan to sign a treaty with 

East Berlin, abrogating any third-party occupation rights in either sector of the city. Depressed 

and angry, Kennedy assumed that his only option was to prepare the country for nuclear war, 

which he personally thought had a one-in-five chance of occurring.  

 

Latin America and communism 

Kennedy signs the Proclamation for Interdiction of the Delivery of Offensive 

Weapons to Cuba in the Oval Office, October 23, 1962. Believing that "those who make 
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peaceful revolution impossible, will make violent revolution inevitable," Kennedy sought 

to contain the perceived threat of communism in Latin America by establishing 

the Alliance for Progress, which sent aid to some countries and sought greater human 

rights standards in the region. He worked closely with Puerto Rican Governor Luis 

Muñoz Marín for the development of the Alliance of Progress and began working to 

further Puerto Rico's autonomy. 

The Eisenhower administration, through the CIA, had begun formulating plans to 

assassinate Castro in Cuba and Rafael Trujillo in the Dominican Republic. When 

Kennedy took office, he privately instructed the CIA that any plan must include plausible 

deniability by the U.S. His public position was in opposition. In June 1961, the 

Dominican Republic's leader was assassinated; in the days following, Undersecretary of 

State Chester Bowles led a cautious reaction by the nation. Robert Kennedy, who saw an 

opportunity for the U.S., called Bowles "a gutless bastard" to his face.  

 

Southeast Asia 

As a U.S. Congressman in 1951, Kennedy became fascinated with Vietnam after 

visiting the area as part of a big fact-finding mission to Asia and the Middle East, even 

stressing in a subsequent radio address that he strongly favored "check[ing] the southern 

drive of communism." As a U.S. senator in 1956, Kennedy publicly advocated for greater 

U.S. involvement in Vietnam. When briefing Kennedy, Eisenhower emphasized that the 

communist threat in Southeast Asia required priority; Eisenhower considered Laos to be 

"the cork in the bottle" regarding the regional threat. In March 1961, Kennedy voiced a 

change in policy from supporting a "free" Laos to a "neutral" Laos, indicating privately 

that Vietnam, and not Laos, should be deemed America's tripwire for communism's 

spread in the area. In May, he dispatched Lyndon Johnson to meet with South 

Vietnamese President Ngo Dinh Diem. Johnson assured Diem more aid to mold a 

fighting force that could resist the communists. Kennedy announced a change of policy 

from support to partnership with Diem to defeat of communism in South Vietnam.  

During his presidency, Kennedy continued policies that provided political, economic, and 

military support to the governments of South Korea and South Vietnam 
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American University speech 

On June 10, 1963, Kennedy, at the high point of his rhetorical powers, delivered 

the commencement address at American University in Washington, D.C. Also known as 

"A Strategy of Peace", not only did Kennedy outline a plan to curb nuclear arms, but he 

also "laid out a hopeful, yet realistic route for world peace at a time when the U.S. and 

Soviet Union faced the potential for an escalating nuclear arms race."  

 

Nuclear Test Ban Treaty 

Kennedy signs the Partial Test Ban Treaty, a major milestone in early nuclear 

disarmament.Troubled by the long-term dangers of radioactive contamination and nuclear 

weapons proliferation, Kennedy and Khrushchev agreed to negotiate a nuclear test ban 

treaty, originally conceived in Adlai Stevenson's 1956 presidential campaign. In their 

Vienna summit meeting in June 1961, Khrushchev and Kennedy both reached an 

informal understanding against nuclear testing, but the Soviet Union began testing 

nuclear weapons that September. In response, the United States conducted tests five days 

later. Shortly afterwards, new U.S. satellites began delivering images that made it clear 

that the Soviets were substantially behind the U.S. in the arms race. Nevertheless, the 

greater nuclear strength of the U.S. was of little value as long as the U.S.S.R. perceived 

itself to be at parity.  

In July 1963, Kennedy sent W. Averell Harriman to Moscow to negotiate a treaty with 

the Soviets. The introductory sessions included Khrushchev, who later delegated Soviet 

representation to Andrei Gromyko. It quickly became clear that a comprehensive test ban 

would not be implemented, due largely to the reluctance of the Soviets to allow 

inspections that would verify compliance.  

Ultimately, the United States, the United Kingdom, and the Soviet Union were the initial 

signatories to a limited treaty, which prohibited atomic testing on the ground, in the 

atmosphere, or underwater, but not underground. The U.S. Senate ratified this, and 

Kennedy signed it into law in October 1963. France was quick to declare that it was free 

to continue developing and testing its nuclear defenses.  
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Peace Corps 

 

In one of his first presidential acts, Kennedy asked Congress to create the Peace 

Corps. His brother-in-law, Sargent Shriver, was its first director. Through this program, 

Americans volunteered to help developing nations in fields like education, farming, 

health care, and construction. The organization grew to 5,000 members by March 1963 

and 10,000 the year after. Since 1961, over 200,000 Americans have joined the Peace 

Corps, representing 139 countries.  

 

Domestic policy 

Kennedy called his domestic program the "New Frontier". It ambitiously 

promised federal funding for education, medical care for the elderly, economic aid to 

rural regions, and government intervention to halt the recession. He also promised an end 

to racial discrimination, although his agenda, which included the endorsement of 

the Voter Education Project (VEP) in 1962, produced little progress in areas such as 

Mississippi, where the "VEP concluded that discrimination was so entrenched"  

In his 1963 State of the Union address, he proposed substantial tax reform and a 

reduction in income tax rates from the current range of 20–90% to a range of 14–65% as 

well as a reduction in the corporate tax rates from 52 to 47%. Kennedy added that the top 

rate should be set at 70% if certain deductions were not eliminated for high-income 

earners. Congress did not act until 1964, a year after his death, when the top individual 

rate was lowered to 70%, and the top corporate rate was set at 48%. 

 

Civil rights movement 

The turbulent end of state-sanctioned racial discrimination was one of the most 

pressing domestic issues of the 1960s. "Jim Crow" segregation was the established law in 

the Deep South. The U.S. Supreme Court had ruled in 1954 in Brown v. Board of 

Education that racial segregation in public schools was unconstitutional. Many schools, 

especially those in southern states, did not obey the Supreme Court's decision. The Court 

also prohibited segregation at other public facilities (such as buses, restaurants, theaters, 

courtrooms, bathrooms, and beaches) but it continued nonetheless. 
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Kennedy verbally supported racial integration and civil rights; during his 1960 

presidential campaign, he telephoned Coretta Scott King, wife of the Reverend Martin 

Luther King Jr., who had been jailed while trying to integrate a department store lunch 

counter. Robert Kennedy called Georgia governor Ernest Vandiver and obtained King's 

release from prison, which drew additional black support to his brother's candidacy. 

Upon taking office in 1961, Kennedy postponed promised civil rights legislation he made 

while campaigning in 1960, recognizing that conservative Southern Democrats controlled 

congressional legislation.  

On March 6, 1961, Kennedy signed Executive Order 10925, which required government 

contractors to "take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed and that 

employees are treated during employment without regard to their race, creed, color, or 

national origin". It established the President's Committee on Equal Employment 

Opportunity. Displeased with Kennedy's pace addressing the issue of segregation, Martin 

Luther King Jr. and his associates produced a document in 1962 calling on Kennedy to 

follow in the footsteps of Abraham Lincoln and use an Executive Order to deliver a blow 

for civil rights as a kind of Second Emancipation Proclamation. Kennedy did not execute 

the order.  

 

Historical evaluations and legacy-Presidency 

The U.S. Special Forces had a special bond with Kennedy. "It was President 

Kennedy who was responsible for the rebuilding of the Special Forces and giving us back 

our Green Beret," said Forrest Lindley, a writer for the U.S. military newspaper Stars and 

Stripes who served with Special Forces in Vietnam. This bond was shown at Kennedy's 

funeral. At the commemoration of the 25th anniversary of Kennedy's death, 

General Michael D. Healy, the last commander of Special Forces in Vietnam, spoke at 

Arlington National Cemetery. Later, a wreath in the form of the Green Beret would be 

placed on the grave, continuing a tradition that began the day of his funeral when a 

sergeant in charge of a detail of Special Forces men guarding the grave placed his beret 

on the coffin. Kennedy was the first of six presidents to have served in the U.S. 

Navy, and one of the enduring legacies of his administration was the creation in 1961 of 

another special forces command, the Navy SEALs, which Kennedy enthusiastically 
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supported. Kennedy's civil rights proposals led to the Civil Rights Act of 1964. President 

Lyndon B. Johnson, Kennedy's successor, took up the mantle and pushed the landmark 

Civil Rights Act through a bitterly divided Congress by invoking the slain president's 

memory. President Johnson then signed the Act into law on July 2, 1964. This civil rights 

law ended what was known as the "Solid South" and certain provisions were modeled 

after the Civil Rights Act of 1875, signed into law by President Ulysses S. Grant.  

Kennedy's continuation of Presidents Harry S. Truman and Dwight D. Eisenhower's 

policies of giving economic and military aid to South Vietnam left the door open for 

President Johnson's escalation of the conflict. At the time of Kennedy's death, no final 

policy decision had been made as to Vietnam, leading historians, cabinet members, and 

writers to continue to disagree on whether the Vietnam conflict would have escalated to 

the point it did had he survived. His agreement to the NSAM 263 action of withdrawing 

1,000 troops by the end of 1963, and his earlier 1963 speech at American University, 

suggest that he was ready to end the Vietnam War. The Vietnam War contributed greatly 

to a decade of national difficulties, amid violent disappointment on the political 

landscape. 

Bill Clinton 

William Jefferson Clinton (né Blythe III; born August 19, 1946) is an American 

politician who served as the 42nd president of the United States from 1993 to 2001. A 

member of the Democratic Party, he previously served as governor of Arkansas from 

1979 to 1981 and again from 1983 to 1992. Clinton, whose policies reflected a centrist 

"Third Way" political philosophy, became known as a New Democrat.Clinton was born 

and raised in Arkansas. He graduated from Georgetown University and later from Yale 

Law School, where he met his future wife, Hillary Rodham. After graduating from law 

school, Clinton returned to Arkansas and won election as state attorney general, followed 

by two non-consecutive tenures as Arkansas governor. As governor, he overhauled the 

state's education system and served as chairman of the National Governors Association. 

Clinton was elected president in the 1992 election, defeating 

incumbent Republican president George H. W. Bush and independent businessman Ross 

Perot. He became the first president to be born in the Baby Boomer generation. 
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Early life and career 

 

Clinton was born William Jefferson Blythe III on August 19, 1946, at Julia 

Chester Hospital in Hope, Arkansas. He is the son of William Jefferson Blythe Jr., a 

traveling salesman who died in an automobile accident three months before his birth, 

and Virginia Dell Cassidy (later Virginia Kelley). His parents had married on September 

4, 1943, but this union later proved to be bigamous, as Blythe was still married to his 

fourth wife. Virginia traveled to New Orleans to study nursing soon after Bill was born, 

leaving him in Hope with her parents Eldridge and Edith Cassidy, who owned and ran a 

small grocery store. At a time when the southern United States was racially segregated, 

Clinton's grandparents sold goods on credit to people of all races. In 1950, Bill's mother 

returned from nursing school and married Roger Clinton Sr., who co-owned 

an automobile dealership in Hot Springs, Arkansas, with his brother and Earl T. 

Ricks. The family moved to Hot Springs in 1950.  

 

College and law school years 

Georgetown University 

Clinton ran for president of the Student Council while attending the School of 

Foreign Service at Georgetown University. With the aid of scholarships, Clinton attended 

the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University in Washington, D.C., receiving 

a Bachelor of Science in foreign service degree in 1968. Georgetown was the only school 

where Clinton applied. In 1964 and 1965, Clinton won elections for class president. From 

1964 to 1967, he was an intern and then a clerk in the office of Arkansas Senator J. 

William Fulbright. While in college, he became a brother of service fraternity Alpha Phi 

Omega and was elected to Phi Beta Kappa. He is a member of Kappa Kappa Psi honorary 

band fraternity.  

 

Governor of Arkansas (1979–1981, 1983–1992) 

In 1978, Clinton entered the Arkansas gubernatorial primary. At just 31 years old, 

he was one of the youngest gubernatorial candidates in the state's history. Clinton was 

elected governor of Arkansas in 1978, having defeated the Republican candidate Lynn 
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Lowe, a farmer from Texarkana. Clinton was only 32 years old when he took office, the 

youngest governor in the country at the time and the second youngest governor in the 

history of Arkansas. Due to his youthful appearance, Clinton was often called the "Boy 

Governor". He worked on educational reform and directed the maintenance of Arkansas's 

roads, with wife Hillary leading a successful committee on urban health care reform. 

However, his term included an unpopular motor vehicle tax and citizens' anger over the 

escape of Cuban refugees (from the Mariel boatlift) detained in Fort Chaffee in 1980. 

Monroe Schwarzlose, of Kingsland in Cleveland County, polled 31 percent of the vote 

against Clinton in the Democratic gubernatorial primary of 1980. Some suggested 

Schwarzlose's unexpected voter turnout foreshadowed Clinton's defeat by Republican 

challenger Frank D. White in the general election that year. As Clinton once joked, he 

was the youngest ex-governor in the nation's history.  

 

1992 United States presidential election 

In the first primary contest, the Iowa Caucus, Clinton finished a distant third to 

Iowa senator Tom Harkin. During the campaign for the New Hampshire primary, reports 

surfaced that Clinton had engaged in an extramarital affair with Gennifer Flowers. 

Clinton fell far behind former Massachusetts senator Paul Tsongas in the New Hampshire 

polls. Following Super Bowl XXVI, Clinton and his wife Hillary went on 60 Minutes to 

rebuff the charges. Their television appearance was a calculated risk, but Clinton 

regained several delegates. He finished second to Tsongas in the New Hampshire 

primary, but after trailing badly in the polls and coming within single digits of winning, 

the media viewed it as a victory. News outlets labeled him "The Comeback Kid" for 

earning a firm second-place finish.  

Winning the big prizes of Florida and Texas and many of the Southern 

primaries on Super Tuesday gave Clinton a sizable delegate lead. However, former 

California governor Jerry Brown was scoring victories and Clinton had yet to win a 

significant contest outside his native South. With no major Southern state remaining, 

Clinton targeted New York, which had many delegates. He scored a resounding victory 

in New York City, shedding his image as a regional candidate. Having been transformed 
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into the consensus candidate, he secured the Democratic Party nomination, finishing with 

a victory in Jerry Brown's home state of California.  

 

Presidency (1993–2001) 

Clinton's "third way" of moderate liberalism built up the nation's fiscal health and 

put the nation on a firm footing abroad amid globalization and the development of anti-

American terrorist organizations. During his presidency, Clinton advocated for a wide 

variety of legislation and programs, most of which were enacted into law or implemented 

by the executive branch. His policies, particularly the North American Free Trade 

Agreement and welfare reform, have been attributed to a centrist Third Way philosophy 

of governance. His policy of fiscal conservatism helped to reduce deficits on budgetary 

matters. Clinton presided over the longest period of peacetime economic expansion in 

American history.  

 

First term (1993–1997) 

After his presidential transition, Clinton was inaugurated as the 42nd president of 

the United States on January 20, 1993. Clinton was physically exhausted at the time, and 

had an inexperienced staff. His high levels of public support dropped in the first few 

weeks, as he made a series of mistakes. His first choice for attorney general had not paid 

her taxes on babysitters and was forced to withdraw. The second appointee also withdrew 

for the same reason. Clinton had repeatedly promised to encourage gays in the military 

service, despite what he knew to be the strong opposition of the military leadership. He 

tried anyway, and was publicly opposed by the top generals, and forced by Congress to a 

compromise position of "Don't ask, don't tell" whereby gays could serve if and only if 

they kept it secret.[97] He devised a $16-billion stimulus package primarily to aid inner-

city programs desired by liberals, but it was defeated by a Republican filibuster in the 

Senate. His popularity at the 100 day mark of his term was the lowest of any president at 

that point.  Public opinion did support one liberal program, and Clinton signed the Family 

and Medical Leave Act of 1993, which required large employers to allow employees to 

take unpaid leave for pregnancy or a serious medical condition. This action had bipartisan 

support, and was popular with the public.  
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1996 presidential campaign 

In the 1996 presidential election, Clinton was re-elected, receiving 49.2 percent of 

the popular vote over Republican Bob Dole (40.7 percent of the popular vote) 

and Reform candidate Ross Perot (8.4 percent of the popular vote). Clinton received 379 

of the Electoral College votes, with Dole receiving 159 electoral votes. With his victory, 

he became the first Democrat to win two consecutive presidential elections since Franklin 

D. Roosevelt.  

 

Second term (1997–2001) 

 

In the January 1997, State of the Union address, Clinton proposed a new initiative 

to provide health coverage to up to five million children. Senators Ted Kennedy—a 

Democrat—and Orrin Hatch—a Republican—teamed up with Hillary Rodham Clinton 

and her staff in 1997, and succeeded in passing legislation forming the State Children's 

Health Insurance Program (SCHIP), the largest (successful) health care reform in the 

years of the Clinton Presidency. That year, Hillary Clinton shepherded through Congress 

the Adoption and Safe Families Act and two years later she succeeded in helping pass 

the Foster Care Independence Act. Bill Clinton negotiated the passage of the Balanced 

Budget Act of 1997 by the Republican Congress. In October 1997, he announced he was 

getting hearing aids, due to hearing loss attributed to his age, and his time spent as a 

musician in his youth. In 1999, he signed into law the Financial Services Modernization 

Act also known as the Gramm–Leach–Bliley Act, which repealed the part of the Glass–

Steagall Act that had prohibited a bank from offering a full range 

of investment, commercial banking, and insurance services since its enactment in 1933.  

 

Investigations 

 

In November 1993, David Hale—the source of criminal allegations against Bill 

Clinton in the Whitewater controversy—alleged that while governor of Arkansas, Clinton 

pressured Hale to provide an illegal $300,000 loan to Susan McDougal, the Clintons' 
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partner in the Whitewater land deal. A U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission investigation resulted in convictions against the McDougals for their role in 

the Whitewater project, but the Clintons themselves were never charged, and Clinton 

maintains his and his wife's innocence in the affair.  Investigations Robert B. 

Fiske and Ken Starr found insufficient to evidence to prosecute the Clintons.  

The White House FBI files controversy of June 1996 arose concerning improper 

access by the White House to FBI security-clearance documents. Craig Livingstone, head 

of the White House Office of Personnel Security, improperly requested, and received 

from the FBI, background report files without asking permission of the subject 

individuals; many of these were employees of former Republican administrations. In 

March 2000, Independent Counsel Robert Ray determined there was no credible evidence 

of any crime. Ray's report further stated, "there was no substantial and credible evidence 

that any senior White House official was involved" in seeking the files.  

On May 19, 1993, Clinton fired seven employees of the White House Travel 

Office. This caused the White House travel office controversy even though the travel 

office staff served at the pleasure of the president and could be dismissed without cause. 

The White House responded to the controversy by claiming that the firings were done in 

response to financial improprieties that had been revealed by a brief FBI 

investigation. Critics contended that the firings had been done to allow friends of the 

Clintons to take over the travel business and the involvement of the FBI was 

unwarranted. The House Government Reform and Oversight Committee issued a report 

which accused the Clinton administration of having obstructed their efforts to investigate 

the affair. Special counsel Robert Fiske said that Hillary Clinton was involved in the 

firing and gave "factually false" testimony to the GAO, congress, and the independent 

counsel. However Fiske said there was not enough evidence to prosecute.  

 

Impeachment and acquittal 

 

After a House inquiry, Clinton was impeached on December 19, 1998, by the 

House of Representatives. The House voted 228–206 to impeach him for perjury to 

a grand jury and voted 221–212 to impeach him for obstruction of justice.[168] Clinton 
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was only the second U.S. president (the first being Andrew Johnson) to be impeached. 

 Impeachment proceedings were based on allegations that Clinton had illegally lied about 

and covered up his relationship with 22-year-old White House (and later Department of 

Defense) employee Monica Lewinsky.  After the Starr Report was submitted to the 

House providing what it termed "substantial and credible information that President 

Clinton Committed Acts that May Constitute Grounds for an Impeachment",[172] the 

House began impeachment hearings against Clinton before the mid-term elections. To 

hold impeachment proceedings, Republican leadership called a lame-duck session in 

December 1998. 

Clinton in 2000 at Trump Tower, shaking hands with future President Donald Trump. 

While the House Judiciary Committee hearings ended in a straight party-line vote, 

there was lively debate on the House floor. The two charges passed in the House (largely 

with Republican support, but with a handful of Democratic votes as well) were for 

perjury and obstruction of justice. The perjury charge arose from Clinton's testimony 

before a grand jury that had been convened to investigate perjury he may have committed 

in his sworn deposition during Jones v. Clinton, Paula Jones's sexual harassment lawsuit. 

The obstruction charge was based on his actions to conceal his relationship with 

Lewinsky before and after that deposition. 

 

Military and foreign affairs 

Somalia 

American troops had first entered Somalia during the Bush administration in response to 

a humanitarian crisis and civil war. Though initially involved to assist humanitarian 

efforts, the Clinton administration shifted the objectives set out in the mission and began 

pursuing a policy of attempting to neutralize Somali warlords. In 1993, during the Battle 

of Mogadishu, two U.S. helicopters were shot down by rocket-propelled grenade attacks 

to their tail rotors, trapping soldiers behind enemy lines. This resulted in an urban battle 

that killed 18 American soldiers, wounded 73 others, and resulted in one being taken 

prisoner. Television news programs depicted the supporters of warlord Mohammed 

Aidid desecrating the corpses of troops. The backlash resulting from the incident 

prompted in a drop in support for American intervention in the country and coincided 
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with a more cautious use of troops throughout the rest of the Clinton 

administration. Following a subsequent national security policy review, U.S. forces were 

withdrawn from Somalia and later conflicts were approached with fewer soldiers on the 

ground.  

 

Rwanda 

In April 1994, genocide broke out in Rwanda. Intelligence reports indicate that 

Clinton was aware a "final solution to eliminate all Tutsis" was underway, long before 

the administration publicly used the word "genocide." Fearing a reprisal of the events in 

Somalia the previous year, Clinton chose not to intervene. Clinton has called his failure to 

intervene one of his main foreign policy failings, saying "I don't think we could have 

ended the violence, but I think we could have cut it down. And I regret it."  

 

Bosnia and Herzegovina 

 

Clinton with the U.S. delegation to Bosnia and Air Force personnel in a flight 

to Tuzla on December 22, 1997. Clinton is seen alongside future President Joe Biden. 

In 1993 and 1994, Clinton pressured Western European leaders to adopt a strong military 

policy against Bosnian Serbs during the Bosnian War. This strategy faced staunch 

opposition from the United Nations, NATO allies, and Congressional Republicans, 

leading Clinton to adopt a more diplomatic approach.[201] In 1995, U.S. and NATO 

aircraft bombed Bosnian Serb targets to halt attacks on UN safe zones and pressure them 

into a peace accord that would end the Bosnian war. Clinton deployed U.S. peacekeepers 

to Bosnia in late 1995, to uphold the subsequent Dayton Agreement.[202] 

Irish peace talks 

Clinton shaking hands with Gerry Adams outside a business in East Belfast, 

November 30, 1995In 1992, before his presidency, Clinton proposed sending a peace 

envoy to Northern Ireland, but this was dropped to avoid tensions with the British 

government. In November 1995, in a ceasefire during the Troubles, Clinton became the 

first president to visit Northern Ireland, examining both of the two divided communities 

of Belfast. Despite unionist criticism, Clinton used his visit as a way to negotiate an end 
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to the violent conflict, playing a key role in the peace talks that produced the Good Friday 

Agreement in 1998. Clinton plays the saxophone presented to him by Russian 

president Boris Yeltsin at a private dinner in Russia, January 13, 1994. 

 

Israeli-Palestinian conflict 

 

Clinton attempted to end the Israeli–Palestinian conflict. Secret negotiations 

mediated by Clinton between Israeli Prime Minister Yitzhak Rabin and Palestine 

Liberation Organization (PLO) Chairman Yasser Arafat led to a historic declaration of  

peace in September 1993, called the Oslo Accords, which were signed at the 

White House on September 13. The agreement led to the Israel–Jordan peace treaty in 

1994 and the Wye River Memorandum in October 1998, however, this did not end the 

conflict. He brought Israeli prime minister Ehud Barak and Palestinian Authority 

chairman Yasser Arafat together at Camp David for the 2000 Camp David Summit, 

which lasted 14 days in July. Following the failure of the peace talks, Clinton said Arafat 

had "missed the opportunity" to facilitate a "just and lasting peace". In his autobiography, 

Clinton blames Arafat for the collapse of the summit. Following another attempt in 

December 2000 at Bolling Air Force Base, in which the president offered the Clinton 

Parameters, the situation broke down completely after the end of the Taba Summit and 

with the start of the Second Intifada.  

 

Judicial appointments 

Clinton appointed two justices to the Supreme Court: Ruth Bader Ginsburg in 

1993  and Stephen Breyer in 1994. Both justices went on to serve until the 2020s, leaving 

a lasting judicial legacy for President Clinton.  

Clinton was the first president in history to appoint more women and minority judges 

than white male judges to the federal courts. In his eight years in office, 11.6% of 

Clinton's court of appeals nominees and 17.4% of his district court nominees were black; 

32.8% of his court of appeals nominees and 28.5% of his district court nominees were 

women.  
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Public opinion 

Clinton's approval ratings throughout his presidential career (Roper Center) 

Throughout Clinton's first term, his job approval rating fluctuated in the 40s and 50s. In 

his second term, his rating consistently ranged from the high-50s to the high-60s. After 

his impeachment proceedings in 1998 and 1999, Clinton's rating reached its highest 

point. According to a CBS News/New York Times poll, Clinton left office with an 

approval rating of 68 percent, which matched those of Ronald Reagan and Franklin D. 

Roosevelt as the highest ratings for departing presidents in the modern era. Clinton's 

average Gallup poll approval rating for his last quarter in office was 61 percent, the 

highest final quarter rating any president has received for fifty years. Forty-seven percent 

of the respondents identified themselves as being Clinton supporters.  

As he was leaving office, a CNN/USA Today/Gallup poll revealed that 45 percent of 

Americans said they would miss him; 55 percent thought he "would have something 

worthwhile to contribute and should remain active in public life"; 68 percent thought he 

would be remembered more for his "involvement in personal scandal" than for "his 

accomplishments"; and 58 percent answered "No" to the question "Do you generally 

think Bill Clinton is honest and trustworthy?" The same percentage said he would be 

remembered as either "outstanding" or "above average" as a president, while 22 percent 

said he would be remembered as "below average" or "poor".  

 

Alleged affairs 

 

Clinton admitted to having extramarital affairs with singer Gennifer 

Flowers and Monica Lewinsky. Actress Elizabeth Gracen, Miss Arkansas winner Sally 

Perdue, and Dolly Kyle Browning[298] all claimed that they had affairs with Clinton 

during his time as governor of Arkansas. Browning later sued Clinton, Bruce 

Lindsey, Robert S. Bennett, and Jane Mayer, alleging they engaged in a conspiracy to 

attempt to block her from publishing a book loosely based on her relationship with 

Clinton and tried to defame him. However, Browning's lawsuit was dismissed.  
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Post-presidency (2001–present) 

         Clinton greets a Hurricane Katrina evacuee, September 5, 2005. In the background, 

second from the right, is then-Senator Barack Obama. Bill Clinton has continued to be active 

in public life since leaving office in 2001, giving speeches, fundraising, and founding charitable 

organizations, and has spoken in prime time at every Democratic National Convention. Activities 

until 2008 campaign 

In 2002, Clinton warned that pre-emptive military action against Iraq would have 

unwelcome consequences, and later claimed to have opposed the Iraq War from the start 

(though some dispute this).[304] In 2005, Clinton criticized the Bush administration for 

its handling of emissions control, while speaking at the United Nations Climate Change 

conference in Montreal.  

 

2008 presidential election 

 

During the 2008 Democratic presidential primary campaign, Clinton vigorously 

advocated on behalf of his wife, Hillary. Through speaking engagements and fundraisers, 

he was able to raise $10 million toward her campaign. Some worried that as an ex-

president, he was too active on the trail, too negative to Clinton rival Barack Obama, and 

alienating his supporters at home and abroad. Many were especially critical of him 

following his remarks in the South Carolina primary, which Obama won. Later in the 

2008 primaries, there was some infighting between Bill and Hillary's staffs, especially in 

Pennsylvania. Considering Bill's remarks, many thought he could not rally Hillary 

supporters behind Obama after Obama won the primary. Such remarks led to 

apprehension that the party would be split to the detriment of Obama's election. Fears 

were allayed August 27, 2008, when Clinton enthusiastically endorsed Obama at 

the 2008 Democratic National Convention, saying all his experience as president assures 

him that Obama is "ready to lead". After Hillary Clinton's presidential campaign was 

over, Bill Clinton continued to raise funds to help pay off her campaign debt.  
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After the 2008 election 

Clinton, his wife Hillary, and Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi with Foreign 

Minister Sushma Swaraj in New York City on September 29, 2014 

In 2009, Clinton travelled to North Korea on behalf of two American 

journalists imprisoned there. Euna Lee and Laura Ling had been imprisoned for illegally 

entering the country from China. Jimmy Carter had made a similar visit in 1994. After 

Clinton met with North Korean leader Kim Jong-il, Kim issued a pardon. Since then, 

Clinton has been assigned many other diplomatic missions. He was named United 

Nations Special Envoy to Haiti in 2009 following a series of hurricanes which caused 

$1 billion in damages. Clinton organized a conference with the Inter-American 

Development Bank, where a new industrial park was discussed in an effort to "build back 

better". In response to the 2010 Haiti earthquake, U.S. president Barack Obama 

announced that Clinton and George W. Bush would coordinate efforts to raise funds for 

Haiti's recovery. Funds began pouring into Haiti, which led to funding becoming 

available for Caracol Industrial Park in a part of the country unaffected by the 

earthquake. While Hillary Clinton was in South Korea, she and Cheryl Mills worked to 

convince SAE-A, a large apparel subcontractor, to invest in Haiti despite the company's 

deep concerns about plans to raise the minimum wage. In the summer of 2010, the South 

Korean company signed a contract at the U.S. State Department, ensuring that the new 

industrial park would have a key tenant. In 2010, Clinton announced support of, and 

delivered the keynote address for, the inauguration of NTR, Ireland's first environmental 

foundation. At the 2012 Democratic National Convention, Clinton gave a widely praised 

speech nominating Barack Obama.  

 

2016 presidential election and after 

Clinton campaigning at an election rally for his wife Hillary who was running for 

President of the United States, 2016 

During the 2016 presidential election, Clinton again encouraged voters to support Hillary, 

and made appearances speaking on the campaign trail. In a series of tweets, then-

President-elect Donald Trump criticized his ability to get people out to vote. Clinton 

served as a member of the electoral college for the state of New York. He voted for the 
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Democratic ticket consisting of his wife Hillary and her running-mate Tim Kaine.On 

September 7, 2017, Clinton partnered with former presidents Jimmy Carter, George H. 

W. Bush, George W. Bush, and Barack Obama to work with One America Appeal to help 

the victims of Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma in the Gulf 

Coast and Texas communities. In 2020, Clinton again served as a member of the United 

States Electoral College from New York, casting his vote for the successful Democratic 

ticket of Joe Biden and Kamala Harris.  

 

Post-presidential health concerns 

 

In September 2004, Clinton underwent quadruple bypass surgery. In March 2005, 

he again underwent surgery, this time for a partially collapsed lung. On February 11, 

2010, he was rushed to New York-Presbyterian/Columbia Hospital in Manhattan after 

complaining of chest pains, and he had two coronary stents implanted in his heart. After 

this procedure, Clinton adopted a plant-based whole foods (vegan) diet, which had been 

recommended by doctors Dean Ornish and Caldwell Esselstyn. However, he has since 

incorporated fish and lean proteins at the suggestion of Mark Hyman, a proponent of 

the pseudoscientific ethos of functional medicine. As a result, he is no longer a strict 

vegan. In October 2021, Clinton was treated for sepsis at the University of California, 

Irvine Medical Center.   

Personal life 

At the age of 10, he was baptized at Park Place Baptist Church in Hot Springs, 

Arkansas. His faith grew cold during his university studies. In 1980, after participating in 

a pilgrimage to Israel led by Pastor W. O. Vaught, he became a member of his church, 

Immanuel Baptist Church Little Rock.  When he became president in 1993, he became a 

member of Foundry United Methodist Church in Washington, D.C. with his wife, 

a Methodist. On October 11, 1975, in Fayetteville, Arkansas, he married Hillary Rodham, 

whom he met while studying at Yale University. They had Chelsea Clinton, their only 

child, on February 27, 1980.  He is the maternal grandfather to Chelsea's three children.  
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Honors and recognition 

Various colleges and universities have awarded Clinton honorary degrees, 

including Doctorate of Law degrees and Doctor of Humane Letters degrees. He received 

an honorary degree from Georgetown University, his alma mater, and was the 

commencement speaker in 1980. He is an honorary fellow of University College, Oxford, 

which he attended as a Rhodes Scholar, although he did not complete his studies  

there. Schools have been named for Clinto and statues have been built to pay him 

homage. U.S. states where he has been honored include 

Missouri, Arkansas, Kentucky,and New York. He was presented with the Medal for 

Distinguished Public Service by Secretary of Defense William Cohen in 

2001.The Clinton Presidential Center was opened in Little Rock, Arkansas, in his honor 

on December 5, 2001. 

He has been honored in various other ways, in countries that include the Czech 

Republic, Papua New Guinea, Germany, and Kosovo. The Republic of Kosovo, in 

gratitude for his help during the Kosovo War, renamed a major street in the capital city 

of Pristina as Bill Clinton Boulevard and added a monumental Clinton statue. 

Clinton was selected as Time's "Man of the Year" in 1992, and again in 1998, along 

with Ken Starr.  From a poll conducted of the American people in December 1999, 

Clinton was among eighteen included in Gallup's List of Most Widely Admired People of 

the 20th Century.  In 2001, Clinton received the NAACP's President's Award.  He has 

also been honored with a Grammy Award for Best Spoken Word Album for Children, a 

J. William Fulbright Prize for International Understanding,a TED Prize (named for the 

confluence of technology, entertainment and design), and was named as an 

Honorary GLAAD Media Award recipient for his work as an advocate for the LGBT 

community. In 2011, President Michel Martelly of Haiti awarded Clinton with 

the National Order of Honour and Merit to the rank of Grand Cross "for his various 

initiatives in Haiti and especially his high contribution to the reconstruction of the 

country after the earthquake of January 12, 2010". Clinton declared at the ceremony that 

"in the United States of America, I really don't believe former American presidents need 

awards anymore, but I am very honored by this one, I love Haiti, and I believe in its 
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promise".U.S. president Barack Obama awarded Clinton the Presidential Medal of 

Freedom on November 20, 2013. 
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